
Mike McGuinness, District 7 
President 
William A. Carrington, District 6 
President P1·0 Tern 

PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

HG 

Melanie Ruthe1·ford, District 1 
Brett Nicholson, District 2 
Mikal Goodman, District 3 
Kathalee James, Distl·ict 4 
William Parker, J1·., District 5 

It is this Council's mission "To serve the citizens of Pontiac by committing to help provide an enhanced quality of life 
for its residents, fostering the vision of a family-friendly community that is a great place to live, work and play. " 

47450 Woodward Pontiac, MI 48342 Phone: (248) 758-3200 Garland S. Doyle, M. P. A., City Clerk 

70th Session of the 11111 Council 
Januaa-y 31, 2023 at 6:00 P.M. 

Meeting Location: City Council Chambe1·s 47450 Woodward Pontiac, MI 48342 
Meeting Agenda 

Call to Orde1· 

Invocation 

Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States 

Moment of Silence 

Roll Call 

Authorization to Excuse Councilmembe1·s from the Meeting 

Amendments to and Approval of the Agenda 

Approval of the Consent Agenda 
A. January 23, 2023 Law and the Comts Subcommittee Meeting Minutes 
B. January 23, 2023 Parks, Recreation, and Public Works Subcommittee Meeting Minutes 
C. January 24, 2023 City Council Meeting Minutes 

Special Presentation 
1. Celebrating Jack Cady's Career with the City of Pontiac and his Retirement 

Resolution 
City Council 

2. Resolution Celebrating Jack Cady's Lengthy Service to the City of Pontiac 

Special Presentation Continues 
3. Emergency Housing Needs and Currently Available Local Resources - Kimber Bishop-Yanke, Chair, 

Oakland County Task Force on Poverty and Homelessness 

Recognition of Elected Officials 

Agenda Address (Two Minutes Time Limit) 

Agenda Items 
Ordinance 

4. Adoption of City of Pontiac Adult-Use Marihuana Business Ordinance (Second Reading Postponed from 
January 24, 2023 City Council Meeting) 



Resolutions Continue 
City Council 

5. Resolution Acknowledging February as Black Histoty Month 

Department of Public Works (DPW) 
6. Resolution to approve the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) Annual Permit Performance 

7. Resolution to approve correction to Legal Description for Alley Vacation 

Public Comment (Three Minutes Time Limit) 

Closed Session 
8. Resolution to consider attorney/client privileged communication in accordance with MCL 15.238(l)(h) and to 

consult with legal counsel regarding trial or settlement in connection with Oakland County Circuit Court, Case 
No. 2021-188116-NO (Casady and Sulis v City of Pontiac and Curbco, Inc.), MCL 15.268 (l)(e). 

Communications 
City Council 

9. Oakland County Health Division is selling radon-testing kits at half-off since Janua1y is National Radon 
Action Month. For $5, residents can test their homes for the colorless, odorless, and tasteless gas, which is the 
second-leading cause of lung cancer in the United States. The Health Division recommends testing homes for 
radon gas during the winter months since windows and doors typically remain closed, allowing radon gas to 
collect inside and be more easily detected. The Health Division office in Pontiac, where the kits can be 
purchased, is located at 1200 N. Telegraph Road, Building 34 E, in Pontiac. 

10. Residents who are behind in paying their water bills or facing a service shut-off can get help from a 
partnership between the Oakland county Water Resources Commission and OLSHA. Those who qualify could 
get up to $1,500 in payments on their water bills and stop a shut-off plan. This program is temporary and 
expires on September 30, 2023. Schedule an appointment with OLHSA to sign up by calling (248) 209-2600 
or emailing info@olhsa.org 

11. A new dining option has opened in Downtown Pontiac. The Oak House Deli is now open in the Crofoot, 
located at 1 S. Saginaw Street at the corner of Pike and Saginaw. It is open Monday through Friday from 
11 :00 am to 3:00 pm. Visit www.oakhousedeli.com or call (248) 859-0440 for more information. 

12. "I am Pontiac! Summer Internship Program for Young People Ages 16-24 Required Info Session, February I, 
2023 at 4:00 pm (virtual) or February 11, 2023 at 9:00 am (in-person) or Februa1y 15, 2023 at 5:30 pm (in
person). These are 8-week paid internships through Oakland County Michigan Works. Contact (248) 276-
1777 or pontiacmichiganworks@goodwilldetroit.org for more information. 

13. Nonprofit Coffee Chat, Februa1y 3, 2023 from 9:30 am to 10:30 am, held at OLSHA Pontiac, 196 Cesar 
Chavez Avenue, Pontiac 48342. Local nonprofits serving the City of Pontiac are invited to come and share 
their nonprofit highlights, and hear from Oakland university Pontiac Nonprofit Pillar on news and updates 

14. Accent Pontiac Winter Showcase, February 8, 2023 at 5:30pm, held at the Flagstar Strand Theatre, 12 N. 
Saginaw Street in Downtown Pontiac, free admission 

15. Pontiac Public Library Black History Month Essay Contest, for students ages 7 to 12 it is a 4:00-5:00 word 
essay and for students 13-17 an 800-1,000 word essay on your favorite African American author from the past 
or present; the deadline for submissions is February 10, 2023 and can be submitted in-person at the Libra1y, or 
by email to jcampeau@pontiaclibrary.org 

2 



16. Pontiac Eastside Community Meeting (District Seven), February 13, 2023 from 7:00pm to 9:00pm, held at 
Prospect Missionary Baptist Church, 351 Prospect Street in Pontiac, contact Council President Mike 
McGuinness for more information 

17. Confidence in our Stories: 2023 African American Read-In, February 16, 2023 from 6:00pm to 8:00pm, held 
at the Pontiac Public Library, 60 E. Pike Street in Downtown Pontiac, featuring authors Derrick Barnes and 
Vanessa Brantley Newton, contact contact@puec.org and jcampeau@pontiac1ibra1y.org for more information 

18. "Straight Ahead" Women in Jazz Event, February 17, 2023 at 7:30 pm, held at Pontiac's Little Arts theatre, 47 
N. Saginaw Street, Pontiac 48342. Tickets are free for Pontiac residents, $8 for non-residents available at 
etix.com. 

19. Third Tuesdays Global Music Jam at the PLAT, February 21, March 21, April 18 and May 16, 2023 at 
6:00pm, held at Pontiac's Little Arts Theatre, 47 N. Saginaw Street in Downtown Pontiac, Oakland University 
Professors Mark Stone and Patrick Fitzgibbon lead a jam session of various musicians, from students to 
professional area musicians, creating a world music experience 

20. Councilwoman Melanie Rutherford Presents "Come on Sis Let's Talk About Mental Health", February 19, 
2023 from 2:00 to 5:00 p.m. held at the Crofoot Pike Room, IS. Saginaw Street, Pontiac 48342 contact (248) 
758-3017 or comeonsis79@gmail.com for more information 

21 . Pontiac Creative A1ts Center Black History Month Exhibit of A1tist Bryant Tillman' s Work "The 
Anthropocene" Opening Reception, February 25, 2023 from 6:00 pm to Midnight, held at the Pontiac Creative 
A1ts Center, 47 Williams Street, Pontiac 48341; Free Admission; the Artwork Will Remain on Exhibit 
through March 26, 2023 

22. Flagstar Strand Theatre Gala, March 4, 2023 at 4:00pm, benefiting Strand Art (START) Children' s Theatre 
and performance opportunities for Pontiac youth, tickets $175 or $325 per couple, held at the Flagstar Strand 
Theatre, 12 N. Saginaw Street in Downtown Pontiac. Visit flagstarstrand.com/gala for more information. 

23. Accent Pontiac "Music for the Soul" Benefit, March 5, 2023 at 4:00 pm, held at the Flagstar Strand Theatre, 
12 N. Saginaw Street in Downtown Pontiac, tickets $30, VIP Tickets $100 

24. Oakland County Financial Empowerment Alts Contest is open to all Oakland County public high school 
students, and the deadline for entries to be submitted is March 17, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. Att submission may 
include 2-D (drawing, painting, photography, mixed media, and illustration) and video. Cash prizes will be 
awarded. Contact the Oakland County Treasurer's Office for more information, including at oakgov.com / 
treasurer 

25. Pontiac Regional Chamber of Commerce "Prosperity Pontiac" Annual Event, March 29, 2023 

26. Pontiac Community Foundation 5-Year Anniversary Celebration, May 19, 2023 

Mayor's Office 
27. Galloway Lake Park Improvements Community Meeting, February 2, 2023 at 5:30pm, held at Pontiac City 

Hall 

28. Pontiac Parks and Recreation Presents Pontiac Princess Daddy and Daughter Dance, Februa1y 11, 2023 from 
5:00 to 7:00 pm, held at the Lafayette Grande Ballroom, 1 Lafayette Street Pontiac 48342; tickets are $30 a 
couple for residents, $40 a couple for non-residents; for more information, contact (248) 758-3039 

3 



29. The City of Pontiac is seeking citizen input on a new master plan for Galloway Lake Park. Visit the city's 
website to share your ideas on improvements you would like to see, as our city works to make this beautiful 
park even stronger. 

Closing Comments 
· Mayor Greimel (Seven Minutes Time Limit) 

Clerk and City Council (Three Minutes Time Limit) 

Adjoumment 

4 



CONSENT 
AGENDA 

A 



Pontiac City Council Law & the Courts 
Subcommittee Meeting Minutes 

Meeting held at Pontiac City Hall, 47450 Woodward Avenue, Pontiac, Michigan 
in the City Council Conference Room. 

Januru.y 23, 2023 

In Attendance: 
Council members: Chair William Parker Jr. and Brett Nicholson 
Mayor: Tim Greimel 
Deputy Mayor: Khalfani Stephens 
Chief Judge 50th District Court: Cynthia Walker 
Court Administrator: Lynette Ward 
Code Enforcement/Rental Inspections Manager: Jack McIntyre 
Building Official: Lar1y Doroski 
Community Housing Network: Gisele Wallace and Stacy Lorne 
Racial Justice Adviso1y Council (RJAC): Stephanie Crider 
Community Outreach Specialist 
Legislative Counsel: Monique Sharpe 

The meeting started at 4:05 p.m. 

AGENDA 
I. Standing Updates 

a. 50th District Court - Update 
1. HV AC Update 
2. MIDC Update 

b. Blight Court 
1. Move Blight Court to 50th District (Effect on Magistrates) 
2. Pending Issues for Districts 

c. Pending Legal Concerns (Mayor's Office) 
1. Selection of City Legal Representation 
2. Cease -Fire Update 
3. Contracts Pending 

d. Report from OCPO 

II. New Business 

III. Items for Future Consideration by Subcommittee 

IV. Public Comments: T here were no requests for public comment at the meeting. 

V. Adjournment: The meeting ended at 5:38 p.m. 

**Next meeting: Monday, Februaiy 27, 2023 at 4:00 pm in the City Council Conference Room. 



CONSENT 
AGENDA 

B 



Pontiac City Council Parks, Recreation /Public Works 
Subcommittee Meeting Minutes 

Meeting held at Pontiac City Hall, 47450 Woodward Avenue, Pontiac, Michigan 
in the City Council Conference Room. 

January 23, 2023 
In attendance: 

Council members: Chair Kathalee James 
Mayor: Tim Greimel 
Deputy Mayor: Khalfani Stephens 
Grants Director: Alexandra Borngesser 
DPW Director: Al Cooley 
Youth Recreation Manager: Tanesha Taylor 
Parks Manager: Alex Zegarzewski 
Member of the Public: Richard Harrison and Portia Fields-Anderson 
Legislative Counsel: Monique Sharpe 

The meeting started at 12:05 p.m. 

AGENDA 

RECREATION 
Introduction of Parks Manager, Alex Zegarzewski, Questions and Answers 

• Park Grants Status Update 
• Galloway Lake Park Community Led Design Project Update 
• Update on Hawthorne Park Operations Agreement 
• Community Center Property Acquisition Update 
• Recreation Department Update 
• Discussion on Recreational Marihuana Ordinance language relative to parks 

PARKS 
• Beaudette Park 

Upgrade the softball diamond at the park to a regulation playing field status - Plan and Timing 

PUBLIC WORKS 
• Status of Open Engineering Positions 

o CDBG Senior Center Rehab Status 
o Beaudette Park Gate Installation / Speed Humps Status 
o Recent Contract Renewals,Janitorial Contract, others/ Renewals Scheduled to come 

before Council within the next 30 days 
o Discussion Martin Luther King Jr./ South Blvd Bridge Plan of Action 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: There were comments from Richard Harrison and Portia Fields-Anderson 

ADJOURNMENT: The meeting ended at 1:24 p.m. 



CONSENT 
AGENDA 

C 

, I 



January 24, 2023 Draft 

Call to order 

Official Proceedings 
Pontiac City Council 

69th Session of the Eleventh Council 

A Meeting of the City Council of Pontiac, Michigan was called to order at the City Hall Counci I 
Chambers, 47450 Woodward Ave Pontiac, MI 48342 on Tuesday, January 24, 2023 at 6:02 p.m. by 
Council President Mike McGuiness. 

Invocation - Pastor Chris Johnson, All Saints Episcopal Church 

Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States 

Moment of Silence 

Roll Call 

Nicholson, William Parker, Jr. and Melanie Ruthe 

Mayor Greimel was present 
A quorum was announced. 

Ayes: Good an, James, McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford and Carrington 
No:None 
Resolution Passed 

Special Presentation 
Introducing Pontiac' s New Building Official Larry Domski 

Public Hearing 
Council President McGuinness opened up Public hearing at 6:20 regarding the purchase of the former 
McCarroll School Site located at 191 N. Glenwood Pontiac, MI. Twelve (12) individuals addressed the 
body during the public hearing. 



January 24, 2023 Draft 

1. Quincy Stewart stated he is disappointed we could not get Wisner. McCarroll is in bad shape. 
2. Chuck Johnson said McCarroll is a good site, tear it down and build a new facility. 
3. Chris Northcross express his disappointment in not getting Wisner. 
4. Carlton Jones said get behind City Officials and school board officials. He is interest in youth in 

our City; build a brand new facility on McCarroll site. 
5. Norman Elam asked when are we going to value our youth. 
6. Dr. Deirdre Waterman stated we had a youth center in Pontiac on Golf Dr. 
7. Kermit Williams said look to see what the plan would be. 
8. Gloria Miller stated 3 .2 million was set aside by the 10th Council for a building, Wisner was 

dangerous and rooms were too small. Stop second grading us and stop playing politics with the 
money. 

9. Larry Jasper stated 6 months diligence and what about a poo . 
10. Roslyn Northcross asked what we want to put in the City. W eed a assessment. 
11 . Tameka Ramsey stated seniors wanted the kids to hav the IS~st. What is the time frame for 

tearing down the school? She refuses to let her so ,(o to G0 fDr. 
12. Darlene Clark stated we need tools, science center- and computer room. 

Carlton Jones addressed item #3 
Quincy Stewart addressed item #5 
Aaron Geyer a dressed ·tern #3 
Michael Dowdell addressetl item #3 
Joseph Aiello addressed item #3 
Jenn Zielinski addr ssed item #3 

Agenda Items 
Ordinance 

Posttione the Adqptmn of City of Pontiac Adult-Use Maribuana Business Ordinance 
for one week. (Second Reading Posf~oned from January 10, 2023 City Council Meeting) Moved by 
Councilperson Parker and se--eo d b~ Councilperson Goodman. 

Resolutions 
City Council 

Ayes: James, McGuinness, Parker, Carrington and Goodman 
No: Nicholson 
Abstain: Rutherford 
Motion Carried 

23-40 Resolution by City Council Calling for Concentl'ated and Coordinated State, 
County, Local Mental Health Resources. Moved by Councilperson Nicholson and second by 
Councilperson Parker. 

2 



January 24, 2023 Draft 

Whereas, the Pontiac community has been centering conversations about the state of our state and 
nation's fractured and insufficient mental health system, with strong concerns about our neighbors when 
they are struggling with mental health crises; and 
Whereas, Pontiac residents and surrounding communities have been underserved by the disinvestment 
and privatization of Michigan's mental health services in recent decades, and pervasive barriers to finding 
information and services about the remaining patchwork of agencies and accessibility for their services 
continue; and 
Whereas, the City of Pontiac has in recent months made a concerted push to make the existing public and 
private resources and agencies working with a focus on addressing mental health, and in the past few 
months it has been featured on the home page of the City's website; now, 
Therefore, Be It Resolved, the Pontiac City Council hereby calls for more concentrated and coordinated 
state, county, and federal resources to better assist Pontiac residents contending with mental health 
challenges; and further / 
Resolved, the City of Pontiac is an eager partner for courageous con( ersations with the elected and 
appointed leaders in the State of Michigan government, the' i~igan egislature, the Oakland County 
Government, and surrounding municipalities on how we can address thes challenges directly and 
proactively; and finther 
Resolved, the City Council acknowledges the wo act'vely underway by t e Oakland County Task Force 
on Pove1ty and Homelessness to inventory and ass ss t~e emergency resources ava·lable to residents of 
Pontiac and Oakland County; and fuither 'v"\., 
Resolved, the City Council requests for the Mayor and his Administra ion to engage it the Oakland 
County Task Force on Poverty and Homelessness on that initiative(and further 
Resolved, the City Council requests for &Ma or and his A · i tration to pursue fmther internal and 
external opportunities for expanding the c mu lcatfug out of al currently available mental heaTfh 
resources available to residents. 

23-41 

Whereas, t e € ity of Pontiac, he q akland County Sheriff, and Flock Safety implemented a trial of the 
Flock Safety system in the City 0f Pontiac i m'd-0222; and, 
Whereas, The FlocR-.Safety syste s-flave been placed in locations in the City right-of-way and have 
actively been utilized assist law enforcement with public safety initiatives, including the successful 
apprehension of crimi al suspects; and, 
Whereas, the City CouncQ_re o dtion authorizing the implementation of Flock Safety camera system for 
the trial period for six mon1h~ calle'ci for the City Council to consider the continuation of the trial period 
for the remaining months of tHat one-year trail period; now, 
Therefore, the Pontiac City Council authorizes the continuation of the Flock Safety system within the 
City of Pontiac right-of-way locations for the remaining months of the one-year trail period at no direct 
cost to Pontiac taxpayers. 

Ayes: Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford, Carrington, James and McGuinness 
No: Goodman 
Resolution Passed 

Department of Public Works (DPW) 
23-42 Resolution to approve a Budget Amendment for Fiscal Year 2022-23 to increase the 

3 



January 24, 2023 Draft 

budget appropriation in the GL account 203-463-974-071 Road Construction by $715,846.90 for the 
purpose of completing the ASI Road Project. Moved by Councilperson Nicholson and second by 
Councilperson Goodman. 

WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac began a repair project in 2021 to repair local roads including but not limited 
to Grenada, Gambrelle, Grandville, Oliver, Bynum an Hazel; and 
WHEREAS, the project was not completed before the end of the 21-22 FY; and 
WHEREAS, it is customary to have funds "rolled over" in this situation to complete the project; 
NOW THEREFORE, BE RESOLVED, City Council hereby approves the proposed budget amendment for 
Budget Year 2022-2023 to increase the budget appropriation in the GL account 203-463-974.074 Road 
Constrnction by $715,846.90 for the purpose ofcompleting the ASI Rd. project 

Ayes: Parker, Carrington, Goodman, James, Mc ' uinness and Nicholson 
No: Rutherford 
Resolution Passed 

23-43 Resolution to approve a Budget Amendment for Fiscal ar 2022-23 to increase the 
budget appropriation in the GL account 101-7~.1-9~ 005 public notices ht $35,000 and 249-371-818-
001 Wade trim professional services by $108,000 and to decrease the balance beet accounts offunds 
101 and 249 by the same numbers respectively. i\!_ov\? by 9>u cilperson 'cliolson and second by 
Councilperson Parker. .., ~ . 

Grants 

t of Community Development; 

Ayes: Carrin_gton, Goodman, James, McGuinness, Nicholson and Parker 
No: Rutherford 
Resolution Passed 

23-44 Resolution to approve the City's of Pontiac's submission to the grant application title 
"Pike Street Clinton River T1·ail Connector" to the Rebuilding American Infrastructure with 
Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) grant program. Moved by Councilperson McGuinness and second 
by Councilperson Ruthetford. 

WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac desires to submit an application titled "Pike Street Clinton River Trail 
Connector" to the US Department of Transportation Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability 

4 



January 24, 2023 Draft 

and Equity (RAISE) grant program; and, 
WHEREAS, the project will transform 4 miles of critical infrastructure by addressing safety deficiencies, 
reconstructing distressed infrastructure, improving quality of life, mobility and connectivity, and supporting 
economic vitality in the downtown core of a Historically Disadvantaged Community and Area of Persistent 
Poverty; and, 
WHEREAS, the grant program requires that the City of Pontiac certify compliance with all Grant Program 
requirements, including commitment to long-term maintenance and all project cost overruns. 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Pontiac City Council hereby approves participation in the 

Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity Grant Program, and authorizes the 
submission of an application titled "Pike Street Clinton River Trail Connector." 

Ayes: Carrington, Goodman, James, McGuinness, 
No: None 
Resolution Passed 

Public Comment 
1. Norman Elam 
2. Christine Elam 
3. Kenny Anderson 
4. Chris Crump 
5. Valerie Bradley 
6. Carlton Jones 
7. Quincy Stewart 
8. Dr. Deirdre Waterman 
9. Charlene Dwyer 
10. Chuck Johnson 
11. Gloria Miller 
12. Larry Jasper 

Adjournment 

Ayes: Goodman, James, McGuinness, Nicholson, Parker, Rutherford and Carrington 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Council President Mike McGuinness adjourned the meeting at 8:54 p.m. 

Garland S. Doyle 
City Clerk 

5 



#4 

ORDINANCE 



/ \ 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

ORDINANCE NO.# __ _ 

AN ORDINANCE TO ALLOW ADULT-USE MARIHUANA ESTABLISHMENTS TO OPERATE IN 
THE CITY OF PONTIAC PURSUANT TO THE MICHIGAN REGULATION AND TAXATION OF 
MARIHUANA ACT, INITIATED LAW 1 OF 2018, MCL 333.27951 ET SEQ.; TO PROVIDE FOR 
STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES TO PERMIT AND REGULATE ADULT-USE MARIHUANA 
ESTABLISHMENTS; TO PROVIDE FOR THE IMPOSITION OF PERMIT APPLICATION FEES 
AND RENEWAL FEES; AND TO IMPOSE CONDITIONS FOR THE OPERATION OF ADULT
USE MARIHUANA ESTABLISHMENTS. 

THE CITY OF PONTIAC ORDAINS: 

ARTICLE ___ . ADULT-USE MARIHUANA BUSINESS LICENSING 

Sec. 01. Title. 

The title of this ordinance shall be the "City of Pontiac Adult-Use Marihuana Business 

Ordinance." 

Sec. 02. Purpose and Intent. 

A. Purpose. The purpose of this Ordinance is to establish standards and procedures 

for the issuance, regulation, renewal, suspension, and revocation of business licenses for adult

use marihuana establishments in accordance with the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of 

Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 1 of 2018, MCL 333.27951 et seq. ("MRTMA") so as to protect the 

public health, safety, and welfare of residents of the City by setting forth the manner in which 

adult-use marihuana businesses can be operated in the City. Further the purpose of this 

Ordinance is to: 

(1) Protect the health, welfare and safety of the public through reasonable regulations on 

adult-use marihuana business operations as it relates to noise, odor, air and water quality, food 

safety, public safety, security for the establishments and its personnel, and other health and safety 

concerns; 

(2) Protect residential zoned properties and neighborhoods by limiting the location and the 

concentration of types of Marijuana Businesses to specific areas of the City; 

(3) Establish application and license fees to defray and recover the City's costs for 

administering and enforcing this ordinance; 



(4) Recognize that the City of Pontiac has been identified by the State of Michigan's 

Cannabis Regulatory Agency as a city that has been disproportionately impacted by marihuana 

prohibition and enforcement and that social equity in the marihuana industry is necessary to 

address the historical disproportionate impact of marihuana prohibition and enforcement upon 

Pontiac residents and to positively impact the Pontiac community; 

(5) Minimize the adverse effects from growing, processing, dispensing and storage of 

marihuana; 

(6) Minimize the adverse effects from excessive consumption and use of marihuana; 

(7) Coordinate with state laws and regulations addressing Marihuana Businesses; and 

(8) To restrict the issuance of Marihuana Business permits only to those individuals and 

entities that demonstrate an intent and ability to fully comply with this Ordinance and the laws of 

the City and the State of Michigan. 

B. Legislative Intent. This ordinance authorizes the establishment of adult-use 

marihuana businesses within the City of Pontiac consistent with the provisions of MRTMA, subject 

to the following: 

(1) Use, distribution, cultivation, production, possession, and transportation of 

marihuana remains illegal under federal law, and marihuana remains classified as a "controlled 

substance" by federal law. Nothing in this ordinance is intended to promote or condone the 

production, distribution, or possession of marihuana in violation of any applicable law. Nothing in 

this ordinance is intended to grant immunity from any criminal prosecution under state or federal 

law. This ordinance does not protect the owners of properties on which a marihuana commercial 

operation is occurring from prosecution or from having their property seized by federal law 

enforcement authorities. 

(2) This ordinance is to be construed to protect the public health, safety and welfare 

over commercial adult-use marihuana business interests. The operation of a permitted adult-use 

marihuana business in the City is a revocable privilege and not a right in the City. Nothing in this 

ordinance is to be construed to grant a property right for an individual or business entity to engage, 

obtain, or have renewed a City-issued permit to engage in the use, distribution, cultivation, 

production, possession, transportation or sale of adult-use marihuana as a commercial enterprise 

2 



in the City. The City determines that the commercialization of marihuana is a "closely regulated 

industry" as that term is used in U.S. Supreme Court jurisprudence. 

(3) Any individual or business entity which purports to have engaged in the use, 

distribution, cultivation, production, possession, transportation or sale of marihuana as a 

commercial enterprise in the City without obtaining the required authorization required by this 

ordinance is deemed to be an illegally established nuisance, and as such is not entitled to legal 

nonconforming status under this ordinance, the City zoning ordinance, or state statutory or 

common law. 

(4) Nothing in this ordinance is intended to grant immunity from criminal or civil 

prosecution, penalty or sanction for the cultivation, manufacture, possession, use, sale, 

distribution or transport of marihuana in any form that is not in strict compliance with the MRTMA 

and the Marihuana Tracking Act, and all applicable administrative rules promulgated by the State 

of Michigan regarding the commercialization of marihuana. Strict compliance with all applicable 

state laws and regulations is a requirement for the issuance or renewal of any permit issued under 

this ordinance, and noncompliance with any applicable state law or regulation is grounds for the 

revocation or nonrenewal of any permit issued under this ordinance. 

C. Indemnification of the City. 

(1) By accepting a permit issued pursuant to this ordinance, the holder waives and 

releases the City, its officers, elected officials, and employees from any liability for injuries, 

damages or liabilities of any kind that result from any arrest or prosecution of marihuana business 

owners, operators, employees, clients or customers for a violation of state or federal laws, rules 

or regulations. 

(2) By accepting a permit issued pursuant to this ordinance, the holder agrees to 

indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, its officers, elected officials, employees, and 

insurers, against all liability, claims or demands arising on account of any claim of diminution of 

property value by a property owner whose property is located in proximity to a licensed operating 

marihuana business arising out of, claimed to have arisen out of, or in any manner connected 

with the operation of a marihuana business or any claim based on an alleged injury to business 

or property by reason of a claimed violation of the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 

Organizations Act (RICO), 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c). 

3 



D. Reservation. 

(1) The City of Pontiac shall not waive or constrain , in any manner, the right and 

prerogative of the City of Pontiac to reject any and all applications, to reject an application not 

accompanied with the required documentation or data required by the application, or to reject an 

application which is any way incomplete, irregular, not responsive or not responsible. 

(2) The City of Pontiac shall not waive or constrain, in any manner, the right and 

prerogative of the City of Pontiac to amend or repeal this ordinance in any manner, including, but 

not limited to, the complete prohibition of any type of adult-use marihuana business or limiting the 

number and types of adult-use marihuana businesses authorized to operate in the City. 

(3) Nothing in this ordinance is to be construed to grant or grandfather any marihuana 

business a vested right, license, permit or privilege for continued operations within the City. 

Sec. 03. Definitions. 

Unless defined by this ordinance, any term used in this Section that is defined by the MRTMA, or 

the Administrative Rules promulgated by the Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory 

Affairs addressing marihuana shall have the definition given in MRTMA and in the Rules. 

As used in this Section, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated: 

"Applicant" means a person who applies for a City-issued permit to operate a Marihuana Business in 

accordance with the terms of this Ordinance and the City zoning ordinance. With respect to disclosures 

in an application for a permit issued pursuant to this Ordinance for purposes of ineligibility for a permit 

and the transfer of an interest in an issued permit, the term "applicant" includes a managerial employee 

of the applicant, any person who holds any direct or indirect ownership interest in the Marihuana 

Business, and the following true parties of interest for each type of applicant: 

(1) For an individual or sole proprietorship: the proprietor and spouse. 

(2) For a partnership and limited liability partnership: all partners and their spouses. 

(3) For a limited partnership and limited liability limited partnership: all general and limited 

partners, and their spouses. 

4 



(4) For a limited liability company: all members and managers, and their spouses. 

(5) For a privately held corporation: all corporate officers or persons with equivalent titles 

and their spouses, all directors and their spouses, and all stockholders, and their spouses. 

(6) For a publicly held corporation: all corporate officers or persons with equivalent titles and 

their spouses, all directors and their spouses, and all stockholders, and their spouses. 

(7) For a multilevel ownership enterprise: any entity or person that receives or has the right 

to receive gross or net profits from the enterprise during any full or partial calendar or fiscal year. 

(8) For a nonprofit corporation: all individuals and entities with membership or shareholder 

rights in accordance with the articles of incorporation or the bylaws and their spouses. 

(9) For a trust: all trustees, any individual or body able to control and direct affairs of the 

trust, and any beneficiary who receives or has the right to receive the gross or net profit 

distributions of the trust during any full or partial calendar or fiscal year, and their spouses. 

"Application" means the form(s) provided by the City, accompanied with the nonrefundable 

application fee per each permit requested. 

"City" means the City of Pontiac, Michigan. 

"Class A marihuana grower" means a grower licensed to grow not more than 100 

marihuana plants. 

"Class A Microbusiness" means a marihuana establishment authorized to operate at a single 

location and cultivate not more than 300 mature marihuana plants; package marihuana; purchase 

marihuana concentrate and marihuana-infused products from licensed marihuana processors; 

sell or transfer marihuana and marihuana-infused products to individuals 21 years of age and 

older; and transfer marihuana to a safety compliance facility for testing. 

"Class B marihuana grower" means a grower licensed to grow not more than 500 

marihuana plants. 

"Class C marihuana grower" means a grower licensed to grow not more than 2,000 

marihuana plants. 

5 



"Co-Locate" or "Co-Location" means any combination of growers, processors, retailers, social 

equity retailers, designated consumption, and Class A microbusiness establishments that may 

operate as separate marihuana businesses at the same physical location. 

"Cultivate" means to propagate, breed, grow, harvest, dry, cure, or separate parts of the 

marihuana plant by manual or mechanical means. 

"Department" means the State of Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs 

(LARA), including without limitation, the Cannabis Regulatory Agency, or its successor agency. 

"Designated Consumption Establishment " means a marihuana-related business authorized to 

permit individuals 21 years of age and older to consume marihuana products on the licensed 

commercial premises located in the C-2 Downtown Overlay District No. 3. 

"Disqualifying conviction" means a conviction that makes an applicant ineligible to receive a 

license under MRTMA and the Rules. 

"Equivalent License" means any of the following state operating licenses when held by a single 

licensee: 

(1) Grower licenses of any class under both the Medical Marihuana Facilities 

Licensing Act, MCL 333.27101 et. seq. ("MM FLA") and MRTMA. 

(2) Processor licenses under both the MMFLA and MRTMA. 

(3) Secure transporter licenses under both the MM FLA and MRTMA. 

(4) Safety compliance facility licenses under both the MMFLA and MRTMA. 

(5) A provisioning center license under the MMFLA and a retailer establishment 

license under the MRTMA. 

"Grower" means a licensee establishment that cultivates, dries, trims, or cures and packages 

marihuana for sale or transfer to a processor, retailer, or another grower. 

"Industrial Hemp" means the term as defined at MCL 333.27953 (c). 

6 



"License" means a license that is issued by the Department under MRTMA that allows the 

licensee to operate an adult-use marihuana establishment in the City. 

"Marihuana" means the term as defined at MCL 333.27953. For purposes of this Ordinance 

marihuana does not include industrial hemp. 

"Marihuana accessories" means the term as defined at MCL 333.27953 (g). 

"Marihuana concentrate" means the resin extracted from any part of the plant of the genus 

cannabis. 

"Marihuana Business" means the following adult-use marihuana establishments, whether operated 

for profit or not for profit: (a) grower, (b) safety compliance facility, (c) processor, (ct) retailer, (e) 

social-equity retailer, (f) secure transporter, (g) Class A microbusiness, (h) designated consumption 

establishment, (i) marihuana event organizer or U) temporary marihuana event. 

"Marihuana establishment" means a location at which a permittee is permitted to operate under 

this Ordinance and MRTMA. 

"Marihuana Event Organizer" means a person licensed to apply for a temporary marihuana event 

license. 

"Marihuana-lnfused Product" means a topical formulation, tincture, beverage, edible substance, 

or similar product containing marihuana and other ingredients and that is intended for human 

consumption. 

"Marihuana Tracking Act" or "MTA" means Public Act 282 of 2016, MCL 333.27901, et seq., as 

amended and all future amendments. 

"Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act" or "MRTMA" means, Initiated law 1 of 2018, 

MCL 333.27951 , et. seq., as amended and all future amendments. 

"Permit" means the permit issued pursuant to this ordinance authorizing the operation of a 

Marihuana Business in the City. 

"Permittee" means a person who receives and holds a permit to operate a Marihuana Business 

issued by the City under this ordinance. 

7 



"Person" means an individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability 

limited partnership, corporation, limited liability company, trust, or other legal entity, and includes 

persons within the definition of "applicant" as that term is used in this Ordinance. 

"Processor" means a person licensed to purchase or obtain marihuana from a grower 

establishment and who processes the marihuana and sells or transfers it in packaged form to a 

retailer, class A microbusiness, or another processor. A processor is not prohibited from handling, 

processing, marketing or brokering industrial hemp pursuant to the Industrial Hemp Research and 

Development Act. 

"Retailer" means a licensee that obtains marihuana from marihuana establishments and sells or 

otherwise transfers marihuana to marihuana establishments and to individuals who are 21 years 

of age or older in accordance with MRTMA. 

"Rules" means the unified administrative rules promulgated and from time to time amended by 

the Department to implement the MM FLA and MRTMA. 

"Safety Compliance Facility" means a person licensed to test marihuana, including certification 

for potency and the presence of contaminants. 

"Secure Transporter" means a person licensed to obtain marihuana from marihuana 

establishments in order to transport marihuana to marihuana establishments. 

"School" means and includes buildings and grounds used for school purposes to provide 

instruction to children and youth in grades pre-kindergarten through 12 by a public, private, 

denominational, or parochial school. 

"Social Equity-Qualified Business" mean a marihuana establishment operated by an applicant 

that qualifies for the benefits offered under the social equity program administered by either the 

Department or the City. 

"Stakeholder" means, with respect to a trust, the trustee and beneficiaries; with respect to a limited 

liability company, all members and managers; with respect to a corporation, whether profit or non

profit, all stockholders, directors, corporate officers or persons with equivalent titles; and with 

respect to a partnership or limited liability partnership, all general and limited partners. 

8 



"State" means the State of Michigan. 

"State Operating License" means a license that is issued by the Department under MRTMA that 

allows the licensee to operate an adult-use marihuana establishment, as specified in the. license. 

'Temporary Marihuana Event" means a license held by a marihuana event organizer for an event 

where the onsite sale or consumption of marihuana products, or both, are authorized at the 

location indicated on the state license during the dates indicated on the state license. 

Sec. 04. Creation of Marihuana Business Commission; Composition; Quorum 

(a) There is hereby created a Marihuana Business Commission. There shall be four (4) 

members of the Marihuana Business Commission. The membership shall elect from among its 

members a chairman, vice-chairman, and secretary. 

(b) A quorum of the Marihuana Business Commission shall consist of three (3) members. 

Sec. 05. Marihuana Business Commission Membership; Qualifications; Term; Vacancies; 

Compensation. 

(a) Members of the Marihuana Business Commission shall be residents of the city, and shall be 

chosen so far as reasonably practicable in such a manner as to represent a cross-section of the 

community. 

(b) Members of the Marihuana Business Commission shall be appointed by the mayor to serve 

at the pleasure of the mayor for a term of three (3) years. Reappointment of a member to serve 

an additional consecutive term is subject to council approval. 

(c) If a vacancy occurs on the Marihuana Business Commission, the mayor shall appoint a new 

member to fill the vacancy. 

(d) Members of the Marihuana Business Commission shall serve without pay. 

Sec. 06. Marihuana Business Commission Powers and Duties. 

The Marihuana Business Commission shall review and decide all appeals that are forwarded to 

it by the clerk under this ordinance. The Marihuana Business Commission shall review all appeals 

de novo. The Marihuana Business Commission shall only overturn a decision or finding of the 

clerk if it finds such decision or finding to be arbitrary or capricious and not supported by material, 

9 



substantial, and competent facts on the whole record considered by the clerk in arriving at such 

decision or finding. 

Sec. 07. Marihuana Business Commission Rules and Regulations; Meetings. 

(a) The Marihuana Business Commission shall adopt such rules and regulations as it deems 

necessary to govern its proceedings and deliberations. 

(b) The rules and regulations adopted by the Marihuana Business Commission shall be subject 

to approval by the council. 

(c) The Marihuana Business Commission shall maintain a written record of its proceedings and 

actions which shall be available for public inspection, showing the action of the commission and 

the vote of each member upon each question considered. All meetings of the commission shall 

be held in conformance with the open meetings act, Act No. 267 of the Public Acts of 1976, being 

sections 15.261 to 15.275 of the Michigan Compiled Laws. 

Sec. 08. Marihuana Business Rules and Regulations. 

(a) In addition to the Rules promulgated by the Department and the statutes of the State of 

Michigan, the operations of a Marihuana Business shall be conducted in accordance with the 

provisions of this ordinance and the City Code of Ordinances, including the zoning ordinance. 

(b) Retailer establishments and Social Equity Retailer establishments located outside of the C-

2 Downtown Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay District shall be closed for business, and no 

sale or other distribution of marihuana in any form shall occur upon the premises, between the 

hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. 

(c) Delivery of a marihuana product for sale or transfer to marihuana customers by Retailer 

Establishments and Social Equity Retailer Establishments is permitted in strict compliance with 

Department Rules. 

(d) Drive-thru windows at Retailer Establishments and Social Equity Retailer Establishments are 

prohibited. 

Sec. 09. Licensing of Adult-Use Marihuana Businesses. 

(a) Number of permitted adult-use Marihuana Businesses. 

10 



Type of Establishment 

Grower 

Processor 

Secure transporter 

Retailer 

Social Equity Retailer 

Class A Microbusiness 

Safety compliance facility 

Designated Consumption Establishment-North of Huron Street 

Designated Consumption Establishment-South of Huron Street 

Marihuana event organizer 

Temporary marihuana event 

No limit 

No limit 

No limit 

18 

6 

5 

No limit 

3 

3 

No limit 

No limit 

Sec. 10. City Marihuana Business Permit and Annual Fee Required. 

(a) No person shall establish or operate a Marihuana Business located in the City without first 

meeting all of the requirements set forth in this Ordinance, obtaining a permit from the City Clerk, 

and obtaining a State Operating License. Permits and State Operating Licenses shall be kept 

current and publicly displayed within the business. Failure to maintain or display current state 

licenses and City permits is a violation of this ordinance. A Marihuana Business operating without 

a City permit under this Ordinance or without a State license is declared to be a public nuisance. 

(b) There shall be an initial application fee of $5,000.00 and an annual nonrefundable renewal 

of permit fee of $5,000.00 to defray the administrative and enforcement costs associated with 

marihuana businesses located in the City. 

(c) The City permit fee requirement set forth in this ordinance shall be in addition to, and not in 

lieu of, any other licensing and permitting requirements imposed by the Department and any other 

state regulatory agency, or by City ordinance, including, by way of example, and not limited to, 

any applicable fees for site plan review, zoning review, inspections, or building permits. 

(d) A separate permit is required for each Marihuana Business located at a premises from which 

an adult-use marihuana commercial business is operated. Operation of a grower, processor, 

retailer establishment or social equity retailer establishment, Class A microbusiness, and 

11 



designated consumption establishment at the same location is authorized, provided that each 

establishment is separately licensed and permitted. Operation of a retailer establishment or social 

equity retailer establishment, Class A microbusiness and a designated consumption 

establishment at the same location as a grower or processing establishment faGiHty is authorized 

when in conformity with the City zoning ordinance. 

(e) Within thirty (30) days of approval of the applicant's application, the applicant will start all 

necessary requirements as required by the City to obtain their certificate of occupancy, including, 

without limitation, complying with all applicable building department, fire department, code and 

inspection requirements, including the approval of the site plan. 

(f) All Marihuana Business permits shall be effective for one (1 ) year of its original date of 

issuance by the City and must be renewed annually. 

(g) The conditional permittee has one (1) year to complete its site plan upon the approval of the 

issuance of the Marihuana Business conditional permit. The Community Development Director 

may extend the completion of the site plan up to an additional six months, provided the applicant 

demonstrates good cause for the extension. 

Sec. 11. Location Criteria. 

12 

(a) No marihuana business is eligible to receive a permit unless at the time the application 

for the marihuana business operating permit is submitted, the location of the proposed 

business operation complies with the requirements set forth in the City zoning ordinances 

as required for the specific type of marihuana commercial business for which the permit 

is being sought. No Adult-Use Marihuana Retailers shall be permitted outside of the 

Adult-Use Marihuana Business Overlay Districts, as set forth in the City zoning 

ordinance, as amended. 

(b) Mobile marihuana businesses and limited contact transaction operations, except for 

curbside service in a designated area at a marihuana sales location in compliance with 

applicable Department-issued rules and the City zoning ordinance, are prohibited. 

(c) A permittee shall not operate a marihuana business at any location in the City other than 

at the address provided in the application on file with the City Clerk. 



Sec. 12. General Permit Application Requirements. 

(a) An applicant seeking a permit pursuant to the provisions of this ordinance and licensure by 

the state under MRTMA must submit an application in writing to the City Clerk on forms provided 

by the City Clerk. At the time of application, the application must be accompanied by a 

nonrefundable application fee of $5,000.00 to defray the costs incurred by the City for processing 

of the application. In addition, the applicant shall present copies of government-issued 

photographic identification to accompany the application. 

(b) An application shall be complete and made under the penalty of perjury and shall contain 

all of the following: 

13 

(1) The applicants, all of its stakeholders, and the proposed manager's full name, date 

of birth, residential and business address, email address, and telephone numbers 

including emergency contact information, and a copy of a government-issued 

photographic identification card of the applicant and all stakeholders: 

(a) If the applicant is an individual or sole proprietorship, the proprietor and their 

spouse, if any, shall provide their name, address, date of birth, business address, 

business telephone number, email address, social security number, and, if applicable, 

federal tax identification (EIN) number. 

(b) If the applicant is not an individual or sole proprietorship, the applicant shall 

provide information regarding the business entity, including, without limitation, the name 

and address of the entity, website address (if any), type of business organization, proof 

of registration with , or a certificate of good standing from, the State of Michigan, or other 

state or foreign jurisdiction, as applicable, and the names, dates of birth, residential and 

business addresses, email addresses, phone numbers of each applicant, each 

stakeholder and their spouses, and the federal tax identification number of the business 

entity. 

(2) The identity of every person having an ownership or beneficial interest in the applicant 

with respect to which the license is sought, including the ownership structure of the entity 

that identifies the ownership percentage held by each stakeholder; provided, however, a 

social equity-qualified business entity who is an applicant must be able to demonstrate 



14 

51 % or more ownership by qualifying social-equity applicants, including ownership 

structure of the entity that identifies the ownership percentage held by each stakeholder. 

(3) If the applicant is not an individual, the articles of incorporation or organization, federal 

tax identification number and confirmation letter, and the limited liability company's 

operating agreement, the corporation's shareholder agreement and bylaws, and the 

partnership agreement for a partnership or limited partnership, as applicable. 

(4) A copy of the applicant's notice of prequalification status issued by the Department to 

operate an adult-use marihuana establishment. If the applicant does not have adult-use 

prequalification status from the Department, the application will not be processed by the 

City. 

(5) The name and address of the proposed Marihuana Business and any additional 

contact information deemed necessary by the City Clerk, including the following: 

(a) A copy of the deed reflecting the applicant's ownership of the proposed 

permitted premises, or a purchase agreement or option to purchase the proposed 

permitted premises as applicable; or 

(b) A copy of the lease reflecting the right of the applicant to possess, or an 

agreement or option reflecting the applicant's right to lease, the proposed permitted 

premises, and a notarized statement from the owner of such property authorizing the use 

of the property for a marihuana business as applicable. 

(6) For the applicant and every stakeholder, affirmation that each is at least 21 years of 

age. 

(7) A criminal history background report of the applicant's criminal history from the 

Internet Criminal History Access Tool (ICHAT) or a Michigan State Police criminal history 

report for applicants residing in Michigan. For applicants who reside in any other state, 

federal or foreign jurisdiction, or who have resided in any other state, federal or foreign 

jurisdiction within 5 years prior to the date of the application provide a certified state, 

federal or foreign jurisdiction sponsored or authorized criminal history report. The 

applicant is responsible for all charges incurred in requesting and receiving the criminal 



15 

history report and the report must be dated within thirty (30) days of the date of the 

application. 

(8) Written consent authorizing the City to obtain a criminal history report from the 

Michigan State Police, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, or other applicable state, 

federal or foreign jurisdiction law enforcement or police agency, to ascertain whether the 

applicant and stakeholders have any disqualifying convictions or convictions involving 

dishonesty, theft, fraud, or controlled substances. 

(9) A current organization chart that includes position descriptions and the names of each 

person holding such position, which shall include date of birth, address, copy of photo 

identification, and email address for any operator, manager, or employee if other than the 

applicant. 

(10) A complete list of all marihuana related business permits and licenses held by 

applicant. 

(11) An attested disclosure whether the applicant or operator has ever had a business 

license revoked or suspended, and if revoked or suspended, the reason for such 

revocation or suspension and copies of the orders of revocation or suspension. 

(12) An attestation that no applicant or stakeholder is ineligible from holding a state 

license to operate a marihuana commercial business. 

(13) An attestation that the applicant consents to inspections, examinations, searches 

and seizures required or undertaken pursuant to enforcement of this ordinance. 

(14) A statement that no applicant is in default to the City for any property tax, special 

assessment, utility charges, fines, fees or other financial obligation owed to the City. 

(15) For the applicant and for each stakeholder a resume that includes a business history 

and any prior experience with a marihuana-related business. 

(16) The proposed business plan of the applicant, which shall include without limitation, 

the following: 



16 

(a) A description of the type of the proposed adult-use marihuana commercial 

operation and its physical address; and 

(b) A staffing plan which describes the anticipated or actual number of 

employees, including an estimate of the number and type of jobs that the business is 

expected to create, a proposed living wage or salary (at least 200 percent of the Federal 

Poverty Level for a family of two, at its hourly basis) for all employees pursuant to MCL 

125.3501, MCL 125.3502, MCL 125.3504, article VII, § 34 Construction of constitution 

and law concerning counties, townships, cities, villages and article VII, § 22 Charters, 

resolutions, ordinances; enumeration of powers of the Michigan Constitution, and a 

health and welfare benefits package to be paid for such jobs, unless otherwise prohibited 

by state law, and the goals and objectives to recruit, hire and promote residents of the 

City; and 

(c) A staff training and education plan that the applicant will provide to 

employees; and 

(d) The financial structure, source of financing, development and build-out 

budget and projected initial operating budget of the proposed Marihuana Business; and 

(e) Short and long-term goals and objectives; and 

(f) An explanation, with supporting factual data, of the economic benefits to the 

City and the job creation for local residents to be achieved by the establishment fasmty, a 

proposed living wage or salary (at least 200 percent of the Federal Poverty Level for a family 

of two, at its hourly basis) for all employees pursuant to MCL 125.3501 , MCL 125.3502, 

MCL 125.3504, article VII , § 34 Construction of constitution and law concerning counties, 

townships, cities, villages and article VII, § 22 Charters, resolutions, ordinances; 

enumeration of powers of the Michigan Constitution, and a health and welfare benefits 

package to be paid for such jobs, unless otherwise prohibited by state law, including plans 

for community outreach and worker training programs; 

(g) If co-location of Marihuana Businesses is proposed, provide an explanation of 

the integration of such businesses, including a drawing showing the relationship between the 

businesses being co-located, including floor area and the separation provided between such 



17 

facilities, including identification of any points of entry, ingress or egress, and controls at each 

location; and 

(h) A neighborhood communication/education plan and strategies; and 

(i) Any charitable plans and strategies whether through financial donations or 

volunteer work. 

(17) A lighting plan showing the lighting outside of the marihuana business for security 

purposes and compliance with applicable City outdoor lighting requirements; 

(18) A security plan, including, but not limited to, lighting, alarms, barriers, 

recording/monitoring devices, safes, and/or security guard arrangements proposed for 

the establishment faGiffty and premises. The security plan must contain the specification 

details of each item of security equipment. 

(19) A to-scale diagram of the proposed licensed premises, no larger than 11 inches by 

17 inches, showing, without limitation, building floor plan and layout, all entryways, 

doorways, or passageways, and means of public entry and exits to the proposed licensed 

premises, loading zones, available on-site parking spaces, including handicapped 

accessible spaces, fencing at the premises, and all areas in which marihuana will be 

stored, grown, manufactured or dispensed; 

(20) Any proposed elevation drawings, and photographs or other depiction of materials 

to be visible on the exterior of the proposed Marihuana Business. 

(21) A proposed marketing, advertising, and business promotion plan for the proposed 

Marihuana Business. 

(22) A description of planned tangible capital investment in the City for each proposed 

Marihuana Business. 

(23) A social equity plan that (a) promotes and encourages participation and ownership 

in the marihuana industry by local residents that have been disproportionately impacted 

by marihuana prohibition and enforcement, and that (b) positively impacts local residents. 



18 

(24) A depiction of any proposed signage, text or graphic materials to be shown on the 

exterior of the proposed Marihuana Business. 

(25) A sanitation plan designed to protect against any marihuana being ingested on 

the premises by any person or animal, describing how the waste and byproduct will be 

stored and disposed of, and how any marihuana will be rendered unusable upon disposal. 

The sanitation plan shall include a copy of the proposed contract or letter of intent 

between the Applicant and sanitation waste provider. 

(26) A proposed inventory and recordkeeping plan that will track payment method, 

amount of payment, time of sale, product quantity, and other product descriptors and 

compliance with the requirements of the Department. 

(27) Proof of financial responsibility in the form of a commitment or letter of intent to 

issue an insurance policy covering the business and naming the City of Pontiac, its 

elected and appointed officials, employees, and agents, as additional insured parties, 

primary and non-contributory available for the payment of any damages arising out of an 

act or omission of the applicant or its stakeholders, agents, employees, or subcontractors, 

in the amount of: 

a. at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) for property damage; 

b. at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) for injury to one (1) person; and 

c. at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) for injury to two (2) or more person 

resulting from the same occurrence. 

The insurance policy underwriter must have a minimum AM. Best Company 

insurance ranking of B+, consistent with state law. The policy shall provide that the City 

shall be notified by the insurance carrier thirty (30) days in advance of any cancellation 

or reduction in coverages. 

(28) A signed acknowledgement that the applicant understands that all matters related 

to marihuana cultivation, possession, dispensing, testing, transporting, distribution and 

use are subject to federal and state laws and regulations, and that the approval of a 

permit hereunder does not exonerate or excuse the applicant from abiding by the 



19 

provisions and requirements and penalties associated therewith. Further, the applicant 

completely releases and forever discharges the city and its respective employees, 

agents, facilities, insurers, indemnors, successors, heirs and/or assigns from any and all 

past, present or future claims, demands, obligations, actions, causes of action, wrongful 

death claims, rights, damages, costs, losses of services, expenses and compensation of 

any nature whatsoever, whether based on a tort, contract or other theory or recovery, 

which the applicant or its stakeholders may now have, or which may hereafter accrue or 

otherwise be acquired, on account of, or may in any way arise out of the applicant or 

stakeholders' application for a permit and, if issued a permit, the applicant or 

stakeholders' operation of a Marihuana Business. 

(29) A scaled location area map that identifies the relative locations of, and distances 

from, Schools, childcare centers, public parks containing playground equipment, and 

religious institutions, as measured along the centerline of the street or streets of address 

between two fixed points on the centerline determined by projecting straight lines, at right 

angles to the centerline, from the primary point of ingress to the school, childcare center, 

ef religious institution, or,..fuF-a public park, from the playground equipment nearest to 

contemplated location, and from the primary point of ingress to the contemplated location. 

(30) If the applicant is applying for a permit to operate a Retailer, a Social Equity 

Retailer, a Class A Microbusiness, a Designated Consumption Establishment, or a 

Temporary Marihuana Event, a description of drug and alcohol awareness programs to 

be provided by the applicant to customers and the public. 

(31) If the applicant is applying for a permit to operate a grower, a cultivation plan that 

includes a description of the cultivation methods to be used. Outdoor grows are 

prohibited. 

(32) If the applicant is applying for a permit to operate a grower, a chemical and 

pesticide storage plan that complies with the requirements of the Department. 

(33) An applicant for a Marihuana Secure Transporter license shall provide copies of 

the vehicle registration for all commercial motor vehicles that will be used to transport 

marihuana or marihuana-infused products. A secure transporter must provide proof of 

no-fault automobile insurance with a company licensed to do business in Michigan with 



limits of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit for bodily 

injury and property damage. 

(34) Any other information requested by the City Clerk considered to be relevant to the 

processing or consideration of the application. 

(c) An applicant may apply for multiple Marihuana Business permits of the same or different 

nature, except that Class A Microbusiness applicants may not hold an ownership interest in a 

grower, processor, retailer, or social equity retailer, and social equity retailer permits are limited 

to social equity qualified applicants. No person who holds an ownership interest in a safety 

compliance facility or in a secure transporter may hold an ownership interest in a grower, a 

processor, a retailer, a social equity retailer, or a Class A microbusiness. 

Sec. 13. Marihuana Business Permit Application Process. 

(a) Upon receipt of a completed application meeting the requirements of this ordinance and 

payment of the permit application fee, the Clerk shall refer a copy of the application to the fire 

department and the Community Development Department, the planning division, and other 

affected departments for review and compliance with the City Code. 

(b) No application for a permit shall be approved unless: 

(1) The fire department and the Community Development Department and other affected 

departments have inspected the proposed location for compliance with all state and local 

building, electrical, fire, mechanical and plumbing requirements. 

(2) The Community Development Department, the planning division, and other affected 

departments have confirmed that the proposed location complies with the zoning ordinance. 

(3) The proposed Marihuana Business has been issued a certificate of occupancy and, if 

necessary, a building permit. 

(4) The City Treasurer confirms the applicant and each stakeholder and the proposed 

location of the Marihuana Businesses are not in default to the City. 

(c) After this ordinance becomes effective, the Clerk shall begin accepting adult use Marihuana 

Business applications within 60 days. After sixty (60) days from the effective date of this 

ordinance, the Clerk shall begin accepting adult-use Marihuana Business applications for a permit 

20 



to operate a grower, processor, secure transporter, safety compliance facility, marihuana event 

organizer, and temporary marihuana event. 

(d) The Clerk shall award a conditional permit to any applicant for a permit to operate a grower, 

processor, secure transporter, safety compliance facility, marihuana event organizer, and 

temporary marihuana event, upon the determination by the Clerk that the application is complete, 

the applicant receives the City and State of Michigan approvals required in this ordinance, and 

the applicant meets all of the requirements of this ordinance and the City Code, including the 

zoning ordinance. If the City Clerk identifies, or is informed of, a deficiency in an application, the 

applicant has two (2) weeks to correct the deficiency after notification by the City Clerk. The Clerk 

will grant a final permit if the applicant obtains final site plan approval and special land use 

approval within 6 months of receiving a conditional permit, and obtains an operating permit from 

the City and an operating license from the Department within 18 months after the conditional 

permit is granted and enters into a written agreement with the City confirming that the marihuana 

establishment will operate in accordance with the business plans, building plans, design 

standards, social equity plans and all other operational standards described by the applicant in 

the application materials submitted. The agreement shall further provide that if the establishment 

breaches the agreement, then the City may revoke authorization of the establishment following 

notice and a public hearing, and that in such event, the City shall be entitled to injunctive relief 

barring further operation of the establishment in the City. An extension of 6 months to obtain an 

operating permit from the City and an operating license from the Department may be granted in 

the discretion of the Clerk upon a showing of good cause for the delay. 

(e) Retailer, Social Equity Retailer, Class A Microbusiness and Designated Consumption 

Establishment Applications. After sixty (60) days from the effective date of this ordinance, the 

Clerk shall set a 21-day application window period during which applicants may apply for a 

Retailer, Social Equity Retailer (limited to Social Equity Qualified applicants), Class A 

Microbusiness and Designated Consumption Establishment permits. After the 21-day application 

window closes, the Clerk shall assess, evaluate, score and rank all applications for permits to 

operate a Retailer, Social Equity Retailer, Class A Microbusiness and Designated Consumption 

Establishment submitted during the twenty-one (21) day application window period. The Clerk 

shall review all submitted applications for completeness. 

21 



(f) In its application assessment, evaluation, scoring, ranking, and deliberations related to 

permits to operate a Retailer, Social Equity Retailer, Class A Microbusiness, and Designated 

Consumption Establishment, the Clerk shall assess, evaluate, score, and rank each application 

based upon a point-based scoring and ranking procedure which shall be approved by City Council 

resolution. developed by the Clerk consistent with the requirements, conditions, and provisions of 

this ordinance in each of the following categories: 

22 

(1) The content and sufficiency of the information required to be in the application under 

this ordinance. Applicant must have submitted all required materials for each category in a 

professional, organized manner with clear and accurate labeling of all required items. 

Failure to clearly and accurately label and organize the application materials will result in 

the deduction of points. The maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be 

five (5) points. 

(2) Whether the proposed Marihuana Business will have a detrimental impact on the 

surrounding area and neighborhood including the distance of the establishment to 

properties zoned or used residentially; traffic patterns, traffic mitigation and resident safety; 

plans for litter control, loitering, noise mitigation, odor mitigation. Applicant shall submit a 

traffic impact study by a professional traffic engineer. Applicant shall submit a sanitation 

plan designed to protect against any marihuana being ingested on the premises by any 

person or animal. describing how the waste and byproduct will be stored and disposed of. 

and how any marihuana will be rendered unusable upon disposal. The sanitation plan shall 

include a copy of the proposed contract between the Applicant and sanitation waste 

provider. Applicant shall submit an odor control plan satisfying the criteria in Sec. 15 of this 

ordinance. The maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be twenty (20) 

points. 

(3) Neighborhood Communication/Education Plan on behalf of the proposed Marihuana 

Business. The plan should include meetings, at least once per year, with the neighborhood 

organizations, residents and general public, and to provide a contact for on-going public 

information, questions and concerns. Written notice to all property owners within 1500 feet 

of the marihuana business location, neighborhood organizations and City Clerk shall be 

provided. In addition, to other methods of notice, the written notice shall be sent by mail at 



,, 

23 

least two (2) weeks before the public meeting. The maximum number of scoring points in 

this category shall be ten (10) points. 

(4) Whether the applicant or its stakeholders have made, or plan to make, significant 

physical investment and improvements to the building where the proposed Marihuana 

Business is to be located, including the applicant's financial structure, source of financing, 

development and build-out budget and projected initial operating budget of the proposed 

Marihuana Business and proposed tangible capital investment; the current and proposed 

condition of the proposed location; and the applicant's ownership stake in the physical 

location of the establishment. The maximum number of scoring points in this category shall 

be ten (10) points. 

(5) Whether the applicant and all of its stakeholders have a record of acts that are not 

detrimental to the public health, security, safety, morals, good order, or general welfare prior 

to the date of the application; applicant shall demonstrate and document a history of 

regulatory compliance with all federal, state and local laws and regulations, and shall 

disclose all complaints, judgments, convictions, administrative and regulatory decisions, 

permit and license suspensions, revocations and fines, rendered by any federal, state and 

local government agencies, including but not limited to wage and hour laws, anti

discrimination and civil rights laws, and occupational, health and safety laws. The maximum 

number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points. 

(6) Whether the applicant has disclosed and documented sufficient financial resources 

and total amount of capitalization to develop, operate and maintain a Retailer, Social Equity 

Retailer, Class A Microbusiness or Designated Consumption Establishment, and 

demonstrates the requisite business experience to execute, the submitted business plan 

and other plans required by this ordinance. The applicant should disclose and document 

sources and total amount of capitalization to operate and maintain a Retailer establishment, 

a Social Equity Retailer, Class A Microbusiness and Designated Consumption 

Establishment, and include a CPA attested financial statement, a valid pro forma for three 

years, proof of financial responsibility in the form of a commitment or letter of intent to issue 

an insurance policy satisfying the criteria in Sec. 12 (b)(27) of this ordinance, attest that the 

applicant and any of its owners have not filed bankruptcy in the last seven (7) years, have 

not had liens placed upon financial accounts or property by the Internal Revenue Service or 



., 

24 

state Treasuries, and has filed personal and/or corporate income tax returns for the past 

five (5) years. The maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be twenty (20) 

points. 

(7) Description of staffing plan that includes the number and type of full-time and part-time 

positions the applicant intends to create; the proposed living wage or salary (at least 200 

percent of the Federal Poverty Level for a family of two, at its hourly basis) for all employees 

pursuant to MCL 125.3501, MCL 125.3502, MCL 125.3504, article VII , § 34 Construction of 

constitution and law concerning counties, townships, cities, villages and article VII , § 22 

Charters, resolutions, ordinances; enumeration of powers of the Michigan Constitution, the 

applicant intends to pay employees, unless otherwise prohibited by state law; whether the 

applicant has articulated plans and strategies to recruit, hire and mentor for career 

advancement, a percentage of diverse residents from the City of Pontiac, including those 

residents who are veterans, low income and/or have a prior controlled substance record 

(excluding distribution of a controlled substance to a minor); a staff training and education 

plan that the applicant will provide to employees: an explanation, with supporting factual 

data, of the economic benefits to the City and the job creation for local residents to be 

achieved by the establishment: short and long-term goals and objectives: and whether the 

applicant has articulated plans to provide employee health and welfare benefit plans, 

including, but not limited to, sick leave, maternity leave, and paternity leave. The applicant 

shall maintain and provide data to the City Clerk supporting its staffing plan which shall be 

considered at the time of renewal of any permit issued pursuant to this ordinance to 

determine compliance. The maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be ten 

(10) points. 

(8) Planned philanthropic initiatives and community improvement programs aimed at the 

City of Pontiac, which may include a $1 ,000 donation to a fund administered by the City 

used to promote social equity in the City of Pontiac, a negatively impacted community, by 

promoting advocacy around criminal justice issues related to marihuana prohibition, 

supporting youth who have been negatively impacted by the war on drugs as it relates to 

the prohibition of marihuana, and community education and outreach on adult-use 

marihuana in general. The maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be ten 

(10) points. 



25 

(9) Whether the applicant received conditional approval for a medical marihuana 

provisioning center permit pursuant to City of Pontiac's Medical Marihuana Facilities 

Ordinance, Article XXX, Section 26.1491 et seq., is not currently in default of compliance 

with Article XXX, and has received site plan approval from the City's Community 

Development Department and has started construction of the medical marihuana 

provisioning center subject to receipt of a valid building permit from the City not less than 

30 days prior to the application for Marihuana Retailer or Social Equity Retailer permit. The 

maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be twenty (20) points. 

(10) Whether the applicant has rehabilitated and/or redeveloped within three (3) years 

before the submittal of the application under this ordinance, or will rehabilitate and/or 

redevelop, an existing building by demolishing and rebuilding or completely renovating a 

building that has been vacant or had been vacant as registered with the City for one (1) year 

or more. The maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points. 

(11) Whether the applicant has rehabilitated and/or redeveloped within three (3) years 

before the submittal of the application under this ordinance, or will rehabilitate and/or 

redevelop, an existing building by demolishing and rebuilding or completely renovating a 

building that has been cited as blighted or dangerous or had been cited as blighted or 

dangerous (as such term is defined in the City's Code of Ordinances). The maximum 

number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points. 

(12) Whether an applicant proposes a social equity plan that promotes and encourages 

social equity participation and ownership in the marihuana industry by persons who reside 

in disproportionately impacted communities in those Michigan communities designated by 

the State of Michigan, who have been disproportionately impacted by marijuana prohibition 

and enforcement, and to positively impact those communities, in accordance with MCL 

333.27958(1)0). The maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be fifteen 

(15) points. 

(13) Whether an applicant demonstrates social equity participation and greater than 50% 

ownership by persons who reside in disproportionately impacted communities in those 

Michigan communities designated by the State of Michigan, who have been 

disproportionately impacted by marijuana prohibition and enforcement, and to positively 



impact those communities, in accordance with MCL 333.27958(1 )0). The maximum number 

of scoring points in this category shall be fifteen (15) points. 

(g) Overall scoring and ranking shall be conducted and applied by the Clerk on the basis of 

assigned points from zero (0) points to one hundred and sixty five (165) points with the lowest 

overall total score as zero (0) points and the highest possible total score being one hundred and 

sixty five (165) points. 

(h) At the conclusion of the twenty-one (21 ) day application period, the Clerk shall begin 

processing applications for permits to operate retailer establishments, awarding conditional 

permits to the eighteen (18) highest scoring applicants. In the event of an evaluation scoring tie, 

which causes there to be more than eighteen (18) applicants who achieve scores sufficient to 

qualify for a permit, the scoring-tied applicants will be entered into a random draw and the tie will 

be resolved through a blind lottery drawing to determine which applicant will receive 

recommendation for approval. Those applications randomly selected shall be eligible to receive 

a permit to operate a Retailer. In the event that the number of Retailer permits falls below the 

maximum number authorized under this ordinance, the clerk shall not be required to score 

applicants. Instead, the clerk shall evaluate applications in the order that they are submitted and 

shall award permits for Retailers to an applicant who submits a complete application, receives 

the approvals required in this section, and meets the requirements of this ordinance. However, in 

no event shall the number of Retailer permits exceed the maximum number authorized under this 

ordinance. 

(i) At the conclusion of the twenty-one (21) day application period, the Clerk shall begin 

processing applications for permits to operate Class A Microbusinesses, awarding conditional 

permits to the five (5) highest scoring applicants. In the event of an evaluation scoring tie, which 

causes there to be more than five (5) applicants who achieve scores sufficient to qualify for a 

permit, the scoring-tied applicants will be entered into a random draw and the tie will be resolved 

through a blind lottery drawing to determine which applicant will receive recommendation for 

approval. Those applications randomly selected shall be eligible to receive a permit to operate a 

Class A Microbusiness. In the event that the number of Class A Microbusiness permits falls below 

the maximum number authorized under this ordinance, the Clerk shall not be required to score 

applicants. Instead, the Clerk shall evaluate applications in the order that they are submitted and 

shall award permits for Class A Microbusinesses to an applicant who submits a complete 

26 



application, receives the approvals required in this section, and meets the requirements of this 

ordinance. However, in no event shall the number of Class A Microbusiness permits exceed the 

maximum number authorized under this ordinance. 

U) At the conclusion of the twenty-one (21) day application period, the Clerk shall begin 

processing applications for permits to operate Designated Consumption Establishments, 

awarding conditional permits to the three (3) highest scoring applicants for the North of Huron 

locations. In the event of an evaluation scoring tie, which causes there to be more than three (3) 

applicants who achieve scores sufficient to qualify for a permit, the scoring-tied applicants will be 

entered into a random draw and the tie will be resolved through a blind lottery drawing to 

determine which applicant will receive recommendation for approval. Those applications 

randomly selected shall be eligible to receive a permit to operate a Designated Consumption 

Establishment. In the event that the number of Designated Consumption Establishment permits 

falls below the maximum number authorized under this ordinance, the Clerk shall not be required 

to score applicants. Instead, the Clerk shall evaluate applications in the order that they are 

submitted and shall award permits for Designated Consumption Establishment to an applicant 

who submits a complete application, receives the approvals required in this section, and meets 

the requirements of this ordinance. However, in no event shall the number of Designated 

Consumption Establishment permits exceed the maximum number authorized under this 

ordinance. 

(k) At the conclusion of the twenty-one (21) day application period, the Clerk shall begin 

processing applications for permits to operate Designated Consumption Establishments, 

awarding conditional permits to the three (3) highest scoring applicants for the South of Huron 

locations. In the event of an evaluation scoring tie, which causes there to be more than three (3) 

applicants who achieve scores sufficient to qualify for a permit, the scoring-tied applicants will be 

entered into a random draw and the tie will be resolved through a blind lottery drawing to 

determine which applicant will receive recommendation for approval. Those applications 

randomly selected shall be eligible to receive a permit to operate a Designated Consumption 

Establishment. In the event that the number of Designated Consumption Establishment permits 

falls below the maximum number authorized under this ordinance, the Clerk shall not be required 

to score applicants. Instead, the Clerk shall evaluate applications in the order that they are 

submitted and shall award permits for Designated Consumption Establishment to an applicant 

who submits a complete application, receives the approvals required in this section, and meets 

27 



the requirements of this ordinance. However, in no event shall the number of Designated 

Consumption Establishment permits exceed the maximum number authorized under this 

ordinance. 

(I) At the conclusion of the twenty-one (21) day application period, the Clerk shall begin 

processing applications for permits to operate Social Equity Retailer establishments, awarding 

conditional permits to the six (6) highest scoring applicants. In the event of an evaluation scoring 

tie, which causes there to be more than six (6) applicants who achieve scores sufficient to qualify 

for a permit, the scoring-tied applicants will be entered into a random draw and the tie will be 

resolved through a blind lottery drawing to determine which applicant will receive recommendation 

for approval. Those applications randomly selected shall be eligible to receive a permit to operate 

a Social Equity Retailer. In the event that the number of Social Equity Retailer permits falls 

below the maximum number authorized under this ordinance, the clerk shall not be required to 

score applicants. Instead, the clerk shall evaluate applications in the order that they are submitted 

and shall award permits for Social Equity Retailers to an applicant who submits a complete 

application, receives the approvals required in this section, and meets the requirements of this 

ordinance. However, in no event shall the number of Social Equity Retailer permits exceed the 

maximum number authorized under this ordinance. 

(m) The Clerk will grant a final permit to a retailer, social equity retailer, Class A microbusiness 

and designated consumption establishment if the applicant obtains final site plan approval and 

special land use approval within 6 months of receiving a conditional permit, obtains an operating 

permit from the City and an operating license from the Department within 18 months after the 

conditional permit is granted, and enters into a written agreement with the City confirming that the 

marihuana establishment will operate in accordance with the business plans, building plans, 

design standards, social equity plans and all other operational standards described by the 

applicant in the application materials submitted. The agreement shall further provide that if the 

establishment breaches the agreement, then the City may revoke authorization of the 

establishment following notice and a public hearing, and that in such event, the City shall be 

entitled to injunctive relief barring further operation of the establishment in the City. An extension 

of 6 months to obtain an operating permit from the City and an operating license from the 

Department may be granted in the discretion of the Clerk upon a showing of good cause for the 

delay. 

28 



(n) Nothing in this section is intended to confer a property or other right, duty, privilege or interest 

in a permit of any kind or nature whatsoever, including, but not limited to, any claim of entitlement. 

(o) The Clerk may engage professional expert consultant assistance in performing the Clerk's 

duties and responsibilities under this Ordinance. 

Sec. 14. Social Equity Retailers 

(a) The City has created a permit process to allow state social equity qualifiers to apply for 

and be awarded social equity retailer permits in zoning districts designated in the City zoning 

ordinance. The City shall permit six (6) fi>Je (6) social equity retailer licenses for social equity 

applicants, including franchisees, who demonstrate and document 51% or more ownership by 

social equity qualifying applicants, including ownership structure of the entity that identifies the 

ownership percentage held by each stakeholder. 

(b) Social equity applicants for social equity retailer permits may apply for other available 

adult-use permits including retailer establishment permits, except they may not apply for a Class 

A microbusiness, safety compliance facility or secure transporter permit. 

Sec. 15. Odor Control. 

(a) No Marihuana Business, permittee, person, tenant, occupant, licensee, landlord or 

property owner shall permit the release of marihuana odors from any origin to cause obvious 

odors emanating from the premises in which they derived and interfere with the reasonable and 

comfortable use and enjoyment of another's property. Whether or not a marihuana odor interferes 

with the reasonable and comfortable use and enjoyment of another's property shall be determined 

by the objective standards of a reasonable person of normal sensitivity. 

(b) Marihuana Businesses shall use sufficient procedures to prevent smoke, odor, debris, 

dust, fluids and other substances from escaping the premises of the Marihuana Business. If any 

smoke, odor, debris, dust, fluids or other substances leave the Marihuana Business in a 

detectable amount sufficient to interfere with the reasonable and comfortable use and 

enjoyment of adjacent property, or that causes damage to property, the permittee for the 

Marihuana Business and the owner of the premises shall be jointly and severally liable for such 

conditions and shall be responsible for immediate, full cleanup and correction of such condition. 

The permittee shall properly dispose of all such materials, and other substances in a safe, 

sanitary, and secure manner in compliance with all federal and state laws and regulations, and 

this chapter. 

29 



1 . A plan for ventilation of the Marihuana Business that describes the ventilation 

systems that will be used to prevent any odor of marihuana off the premises of the 

business. Such plan shall also include all ventilation systems used to control the 

environment for the plants and describe how such systems operate with the systems 

preventing any odor leaving the premises. For marihuana infused products, such plan 

shall also include all ventilation systems used to mitigate noxious gases or other fumes 

used or created as part of the production process. 

2. Cultivated, produced, or distributed by a Marihuana Business. A Marihuana 

Business shall be ventilated so that the odor of marihuana cannot be detected by a person 

with a normal sense of smell at the exterior of the Marihuana Business or at any adjoining 

use or property. 

3. Sufficient measures and means of preventing smoke, odor, debris, dust, fluids and 

other substances from exiting a Marihuana Business must be provided at all times. In the 

event that any odors, debris, dust, fluids or other substances exit a marihuana 

establishment, the owner of the subject premises and the permittee shall be jointly and 

severally liable for such conditions and shall be responsible for immediate, full clean-up 

and correction of such condition. The Marihuana Business shall properly dispose of all 

such materials, items and other substances in a safe, sanitary and secure manner and in 

accordance with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations. 

Sec. 16. Social Equity 

(a) A permitee Any person or entity receiving more than $10,000.00 in oontraot value or 

benefit frnm the City must use good-faith efforts in hiring employees who have been negatively 

impacted by marihuana prohibition. Adult-use recreational marihuana businesses should use 

good-faith efforts to hire and retain 25 percent of its employees who are low income or live in the 

City of Pontiac. 

Sec.17. Class A Microbusinesses 

(a) A Class A microbusiness is subject to all applicable provisions in this Ordinance related 

to growers, processors, and retailers. 

30 



(b) All Class A Microbusinesses, shall comply with all applicable requirements of the City of 

Pontiac's zoning ordinance except where otherwise specified in this Ordinance. 

(c) All Class A Microbusinesses shall be classified as Special Land Uses in the permitted 

zoning districts. 

(d) A masonry screen wall shall be provided along all property lines abutting property that is 

zoned for residential use, subject to the requirements of the Pontiac Code of Ordinances. 

(e) Class A Microbusinesses are prohibited if the location is within 1,000 feet from any pre

existing School; (i) The distance separation requirement set forth above shall be measured from 

nearest property line of the Business Location to the nearest property line of the parcel on which 

the listed use is located, regardless of ownership of property or Permittee. A Class A 

Microb1:1siness shall not operate on the same parcel as any other Marih1:1ana B1:1siness. 

Sec. 18. Designated Consumption Establishments. 

(a) All Designated Consumption Establishments shall comply with all applicable requirements 

of the City of Pontiac's zoning ordinance. 

(b) Designated Consumption Establishments shall be limited to C-2 Downtown Adult-Use 

Marihuana Business Overlay District as identified in the City zoning ordinance and on the City 

Zoning Map, with three Designated Consumption Establishments permitted north of Huron Street 

and three Designated Consumption Establishments permitted south of Huron Street. 

(c) Designated Consumption Establishments shall be classified as Special Land Uses in the 

permitted zoning districts. 

(d) A masonry screen wall shall be provided along all property lines abutting property that is 

zoned for residential use, subject to the requirements of the Pontiac Code of Ordinances. 

(e) Designated Consumption Establishments are prohibited if the location is within 1,000 feet 

from any pre-existing School; (i) The distance separation requirement set forth above shall be 

31 



measured from nearest property line of the Business Location to the nearest property line of the 

parcel on which the listed use is located, regardless of ownership of property or Permittee. 

(f) A Designated Consumption Establishment shall: 

(1) Install and maintain an operable ventilation and filtration system to remove smoke to 

the outside of the building and eliminate odor at the property line of the premises; 

(2) Prominently display a sign near the entrance of the business which carries the following 
warning: 

WARNING: Marihuana use by pregnant or breastfeeding women, or by women 
planning to become pregnant, may result in fetal injury, preterm birth, low birth weight, 
or developmental problems for the child. 

Sec. 19. Marihuana Business Co-Location and Stacking. 

(a) Separate Marihuana Business grower, processor, retailer, Class A microbusiness, and 

designated consumption establishment uses, shall be permitted to operate at the same location 

subject to permit approval for each use from the City. Establishments operating at the same 

location must have permit approval for each Marihuana Business type and use described above. 

(b) Consistent with the MRTMA and the Rules, applicants for Class C grower permits shall be 

allowed to stack and receive multiple Class C grower permits, and to operate under each permit 

in a single establishment. 

Sec. 20. Transfer of Location Prohibited; Transfer of Ownership and Assets. 

(a) Transfer of Location Prohibited. Permittees may not transfer a permit issued under this 

ordinance to a different location. 

(b) Transfer of Ownership or Assets. Permittees may apply to the Clerk to transfer ownership 

or assets of a permittee's business and the permit issued under this ordinance to a different 

individual or entity, subject to receiving in advance written approval from the Clerk and the 

Department pursuant to the MRTMA and the Rules. In order to request City approval to transfer 

ownership or assets and a permit to a different individual or entity, the permittee must make a 

written request to the Clerk, indicating the current permittee and the proposed permittee. The 

proposed permittee shall submit a complete application to the Clerk, and the Clerk shall grant the 

request so long as the proposed permittee meets all requirements outlined in this Ordinance and 

32 



the Department authorizes the transfer pursuant to the MRTMA and the Rules. A sale or transfer 

of an ownership interest of a social equity applicant shall be at a price no less than fair market 

value and the buyer or transferee shall be qualified as a social equity applicant. 

(c) With submission of a complete transfer of ownership or assets application, the proposed 

permittee for an ownership or asset transfer shall pay a nonrefundable application fee of 

$5,000.00, in order to offset costs of the City associated with review of the proposed permittee's 

qualifications for a permitted marihuana business operation. 

Sec. 21. Permits Generally 

(a) Permittees shall report any material change in the required information to the Clerk within 

twenty four (24) hour and shall report any non-material change in the required information to the 

Clerk within ten (10) business days of the change. Failure to do so may result in a fine, suspension 

or revocation of the license. 

(b) Permit approval shall not be effective, and no Marihuana Business may operate, unless 

the Marihuana Business has obtained a State License, the site of the proposed use and 

proposed structure for the Marihuana Business has zoning approval for such use, and the 

proposed final site plan and special land use has been approved by the Planning Commission. 

Sec. 22. Term of Marihuana Business Permit. 

(a) Approval of a permit shall be for a period of one calendar year subject to continued 

compliance with this ordinance, the City Code, MRTMA and the Rules. 

(b) Each permit for that current year shall be displayed in a conspicuous spot in the location. 

(c) A permittee shall remove any expired permit on display and replace it with the current permit. 

A permittee shall not attempt nor act in any fraudulent manner in regard to the display of any 

permit. 

Sec. 23. Closing of Marihuana Business. 

(a) A permittee that closes a Marihuana Business must comply with the requirements issued 

by the Michigan Cannabis Regulatory Agency. 

33 



(b) Within thirty (30) days of a permittee ceasing operations, written notification must be 

provided to the City Clerk.(c) The permittee shall furnish to the City a current forwarding address, 

phone number and email for all permittees. 

(d) The permittee shall surrender its Marihuana Business permit to the City upon the 

expiration of the thirty (30) days' notice to the City. 

Sec. 24. Annual Marihuana Business Permit Renewal. 

(a) Application for a permit renewal shall be made in writing to the Clerk at least 30 days prior 

to the expiration of an existing permit. Failure to submit a completed application for renewal of 

an existing permit along with the required renewal fee to the City Clerk on our before the license 

expiration date shall be grounds for the revocation or suspension of a permit. Any authorized 

establishment that has not timely submitted a renewal application as required herein shall 

suspend all business operations until such time as a renewal permit has been obtained. 

(b) An application for permit renewal shall be made under oath on forms provided by the Clerk. 

(c) An application for permit renewal shall be accompanied by a renewal fee of $5,000.00 for 

each permit to help defray administrative and enforcement costs of the City associated with the 

operation of the Marihuana Business. 

(d) Upon receipt of a completed application for renewal of a permit meeting the requirements of 

this ordinance and payment of the permit renewal fee, the Clerk shall refer a copy of the renewal 

application to the fire department and the Community Development Department, planning 

division, and other appropriate City departments and officials for review. 

(e) No application for a permit renewal shall be approved unless: 

34 

(1) The fire department and the Community Development Department, planning division, 

and other appropriate departments have, within the past calendar year, inspected the 

proposed location for compliance with all state and local building, electrical, fire, mechanical 

and plumbing requirements. 

(2) The Community Development Department, planning division, and other relevant 

departments have confirmed that the location complies with the zoning ordinance. 



35 

(3) The permittee possesses the necessary State Operating Licenses in good standing 

with the Department. 

(4) The applicant has operated the Marihuana Business in accordance with the conditions 

and requirements of this ordinance and the City Code. 

(5) The permittee has not been determined to be a public nuisance. 

(6) An explanation, with supporting factual data, that the operations of the business have 

been consistent with the plans submitted with its application for a permit, including the 

staffing plan and proof of an insurance policy covering the business and naming the City of 

Pontiac, its elected and appointed officials, employees, and agents, as additional insured 

parties, primary and non-contributory available for the payment of any damages arising out 

of an act or omission of the applicant or its stakeholders, agents, employees, or 

subcontractors, in the amount of: 

a. at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) for property damage; 

b. at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) for injury to one (1) person; and 

c. at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) for injury to two (2) or more person 

resulting from the same occurrence. 

The insurance policy underwriter must have a minimum A.M. Best Company insurance 

ranking of B+, consistent with state law. The policy shall provide that the City shall be 

notified by the insurance carrier thirty (30) days in advance of any cancellation or 

reduction in coverages. 

(7) An explanation, with supporting factual data, of the efforts and success achieved by 

the social equity plan of the business to promote and encourage participation in the 

marihuana industry by local residents that have been disproportionately impacted by 

marihuana prohibition and enforcement, and the positive impact of the social equity plan on 

local residents. 



(9) The City Treasurer has confirmed that the applicant and each stakeholder is not in 

default to the City for any property tax, special assessment, utility charges, fines, fees or 

other financial obligation owed to the City. 

(10) The City has reviewed the application and determined that the applicant has satisfied 

the requirements of this Ordinance with respect to the criminal background check and 

security plan. 

(11) Unless the applicant shows good cause, the applicant shall demonstrate to the City 

Clerk that the applicant was open and conducting business for a minimum of twenty (20) 

hours per week during each and every week of the prior year. The term "good cause" shall 

mean substantial grounds, such as an emergency, fire damage, or other unforeseeable 

circumstances that prevented the applicant from conducting business for a minimum of 

twenty (20) hours per week during each and every week of the prior year. Economic or 

financial decisions, or inability to secure capital or financial resources that prevented an 

applicant from conducting business for a minimum of twenty (20) hours per week during the 

prior year shall not be good cause. 

(f) If written approval is given by each department or entity identified in this section, and the 

Clerk determines that the applicant has satisfied subsections (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this 

Section, then the Clerk shall renew the permit of the applicant. 

Sec. 25. Denial, Nonrenewal, Suspension, or Revocation of Marihuana Business 

Permit; Basis for Action; Appeal. 

(a) Each Marihuana Business within the City for which a permit is granted shall be operated 

and maintained in accordance with all applicable City, State and federal laws, rules, and 

regulations. Any permit issued under this Ordinance may be revoked or suspended by the City 

after written notice and an administrative hearing if a City official finds and determines that 

grounds for revocation or suspension exist. Any grounds for revocation or suspension of a permit 

must be provided to the permittee at least ten (10) days prior to the date of the hearing by first 

class mail to the address given on the application or any address provided to the Clerk in writing 

subsequent to the filing of an application. The Clerk shall notify an applicant of the reasons for 

denial of an application for a permit, for permit renewal, or for suspension or revocation of a permit, 

36 



or any adverse decision under this ordinance and provide the applicant or permittee an 

administrative hearing with the opportunity to be heard. 

(b) In addition to any other reasons set forth in this ordinance, the City may refuse to issue a 

permit, may refuse to grant renewal of a permit, and may suspend or revoke a permit pursuant to 

Pontiac City Ordinance sections 1-24 or for any of the following reasons: 

37 

(1) A violation of any provision of this Ordinance, including, but not limited to, the failure 

to provide the information required by this Ordinance; 

(2) Any disqualifying conviction or pattern of convictions by the permittee or any 

stakeholder of the permittee including any conviction of any felony or any misdemeanor 

involving controlled substances, theft, or dishonesty by the applicant, permitee, stakeholder, 

or any person holding an ownership interest in the licensee; 

(3) Failure of the permittee to obtain or maintain a State License or approval pursuant to 

MRTMA and MMFLA; 

(4) Commission of fraud or misrepresentation or the making of a false statement by the 

applicant, permittee, or any stakeholder of the applicant or permittee, while engaging in any 

activity for which this Ordinance requires a permit; 

(5) The Marihuana Business is determined by the City to have become a public nuisance 

or otherwise is operating in a manner detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare; 

(6) Failure of the permitee to maintain the property causing a blighted or other condition in 

violation of any City ordinance, including but not limited to, Ord. No. 2355, 8-9-18, or in 

violation of any state law, including but not limited to, MCL 125.538 to 125.542. 

(7) Any default in the payment of any charges, taxes, or fees, to the City if not cured upon 

thirty (30) days following notice sent by electronic means or mail to the address of the 

Marihuana Business. This cure period does not apply to scoring of initial applications for 

Retailer, Social Equity Retailer, Class A Microbusiness and Designated Consumption 

~stablishment permits; 

(8) Violation of any State law applicable to Marihuana Businesses. 

(9) Failure to obtain or maintain a certificate of occupancy from the Building Department; 



(10) Failure of the permitee to obtain or maintain a permit or to renew a permit from the City 

Clerk; or 

(11) The establishmentfaGmty's approved site plan is determined to be in substantial 

violation by the City. 

(c) Appeal of denial of an application, denial of renewal, or revocation or suspension of a permit: 

Any applicant or permittee aggrieved by the denial, non-renewal, suspension or revocation of a 

permit or adverse decision under this ordinance may appeal to the Clerk, by filing with the Clerk, 

within fourteen (14) days after notice of the action complained of has been mailed or e-mailed to 

the applicant or to permittee's last known address on the records of the Clerk, a written statement 

setting forth fully the grounds for the appeal. The Clerk shall appoint a hearing officer to hear and 

evaluate the appeal and make a written recommendation and report to the Clerk. The Clerk shall 

review the report and recommendation of the hearing officer and issue a written decision. The 

Clerk's decision may be appealed to the Marihuana Business Commission by filing an appeal in 

writing to the Marihuana Business Commission no later than thirty (30) days after the Clerk's 

decision. The review on appeal of a denial, non-renewal , suspension, or revocation or adverse 

action shall be by the Marihuana Business Commission pursuant to this ordinance. The 

Marihuana Business Commission shall overturn a decision or finding of the Clerk if it finds such 

decision or finding to be arbitrary or capricious and/or not supported by material, substantial, and 

competent facts on the whole record considered by the Clerk in arriving at such decision or finding . 

Any decision by the Marihuana Business Commission on an appeal shall be final for purposes of 

judicial review. The Clerk may engage professional consultants to assist with the review and 

scoring of applications under this section. 

(d) Following the denial of a permit to an applicant for a retailer permit, social equity retailer 

permit, Class A microbusiness permit or designated consumption establishment permit, and any 

subsequent appeal during the recommendation and issuance process, the Clerk may move to 

recommend the application with the next highest number of scoring points as determined in the 

application process to be awarded a permit. 

(e) The City Clerk shall notify the Michigan Cannabis Regulatory Agency of all renewal 

applications which are renewed or denied, and all permits that are suspended or revoked. 

38 



(f) A permitee whose renewal application is denied, must submit a new application as a new 

applicant. 

Sec. 26. Penalties; temporary suspension of a permit. 

(a) The City may require an applicant or permittee of a Marihuana Business to produce 

documents, records, or any other material pertinent to the investigation of an applicant or 

permittee or to an alleged violation of this Ordinance or state law and rules. Failure to provide the 

required material may be grounds for application denial, or permit suspension or revocation. 

(b) Any person in violatio.n of any provision of this Ordinance, including the operation of a 

Marihuana Business without a permit shall be responsible for a civil infraction and shall be subject 

to a civil fine and costs. Increased civil fines may be imposed for a repeat violation. As used in 

this Ordinance "repeat violation" shall mean a second or any subsequent infraction of the same 

requirement or provision committed by a person or establishment within any twenty-four (24) 

month period. Unless otherwise specifically provided in this Ordinance, the penalty schedule is 

as follows: 

(1) Five Hundred Dollars ($500), plus costs, for the first violation; 

(2) One Thousand Dollars ($1,000), plus costs, for a repeat violation; 

(3) Three Thousand Dollars ($3,000), plus costs for any repeat violation that 

continues for more than one day. 

(c) The City may temporarily suspend a Marihuana Business permit without a prior hearing if the 

City finds that public safety or welfare requires emergency action affecting the public health, 

safety, or welfare. The City shall cause the temporary suspension by issuing a suspension notice 

in connection with institution of proceedings for notice and a hearing. 

(d) If the City temporarily suspends a permit without a prior hearing, the permittee is entitled to a 

hearing within thirty (30) days after the suspension notice has been served on the permittee or 

posted on the permitted premises. The hearing shall be limited to the issues cited in the 

suspension notice. 

(e) If the City does not hold a hearing within thirty (30) days after the date the suspension was 

served on the permittee or posted on the permitted premises, then the suspended permit shall be 

automatically reinstated and the suspension vacated. 

39 



(f) The penalty provisions herein are not intended to foreclose any other remedy or sanction that 

might be available to, or imposed by the City, including criminal prosecution. 

Sec. 27. Severability Clause. 

Should any word, phrase, sentence, paragraph, or section of this Ordinance be held invalid or 

unconstitutional, the remaining provisions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

Sec. 28. Effective Date. 

This Ordinance shall become effective: (a) 30 days following the date of adoption, (b) the effective 

date of the amendment to ordinance #2360 (removing the prohibition of marihuana 

establishments); or (c) the effective date of the zoning code text amendments permitting Adult

Use Marihuana Business land uses, whichever is later. 

Sec. 29. Publication. 

40 



Proposed amendments to Adult Use Marihuana Business Ordinance: 

1. Change the word "facility" to establishment in Sec. 10(d) on p. 12; 
Sec. 12 (b)(16)(f) on p. 16; Sec. 12 (b)(18) on p. 17 and Sec. 25 
(b)(11) on p. 38. 

The reason is that facility has a technical meaning in the Medical 
Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act and the City wants to distinguish 
medical facilities from adult use establishments. Only safety 
compliance facilities are referred to as facilities in both the medical 
(MMFLA) and adult use (MRTMA) statutes. 

All other adult use license types are referred to as 
"establishments." The word "facility" appears in those four sections in 
its co"mmonly used manner and we should avoid any potential for 
confusion between its technical meaning and common usage. 

2. Amend Sec. 12 (b)(29) to eliminate the reference to a scaled location 
area map that identifies the relative locations of, and distances from, 
public parks containing playground equipment and provide that the 
measurement for buffering distances from public parks should be 
based on public parks without a reference to playground equipment. 

Sec. 12 (b)(29) is proposed to be amended to read: 

"(29) A scaled location area map that identifies the relative locations 
of, and distances from, Schools, childcare centers, public parks 
containing playground equipment, and religious institutions, as 
measured along the centerline of the street or streets of address 
between two fixed points on the centerline determined by projecting 
straight lines, at right angles to the centerline, from the primary point 
of ingress to the school, childcare center, -e-i= religious institution, or, 
fuf-a public park, from the playground equipment nearest to 
contemplated location, and from the primary point of ingress to the 
contemplated location." 

3. Sec. 13 (c) at pp. 20-21 is proposed to be amended to read: 

"( c) After sixty (60) days from the effective date of this ordinance, the 
Clerk shall begin accepting adult-use Marihuana Business applications 
for a permit to operate a grower, processor, secure transporter, safety 
compliance facility, marihuana event organizer, and temporary 
marihuana event." 

1 



The other limited license types -- Retailer, Social Equity Retailer, Class 
A Microbusiness and Designated Consumption Establishment -- have a 
21-day application window set by the Clerk after the 60 days in Sec. 
13 (e). 

4 . Sec. 13 (f) at p. 22 is proposed to be amended to provide that the 
point-based scoring and ranking procedure "shall be approved by City 
Council resolution ... " 

"(f) In its application assessment, evaluation, scoring, ranking, and 
deliberations related to permits to operate a Retailer, Social Equity 
Retailer, Class A Microbusiness, and Designated Consumption 
Establishment, the Clerk shall assess, evaluate, score, and rank each 
application based upon a point-based scoring and ranking procedure 
which shall be approved by City Council resolution, consistent with the 
requirements, conditions, and provisions of this ordinance in each of 
the following categories:" 

5. Sec. 13 (f)(2) at p. 22 is proposed to be amended to incorporate the 
sanitation plan and odor plan required as part of the application into 
an existing scoring category on whether the business will have a 
detrimental impact on the surrounding area. The added language is 
underscored. 

"(2) Whether the proposed Marihuana Business will have a 
detrimental impact on the surrounding area and neighborhood 
including the distance of the establishment to properties zoned or used 
residentially; traffic patterns, traffic mitigation and resident safety; 
plans for litter control, loitering, noise mitigation, odor 
mitigation. Applicant shall submit a traffic impact study by a 
professional traffic engineer. Applicant shall submit a sanitation plan 
designed to protect against any marihuana being ingested on the 
premises by any person or animal. describing how the waste and 
byproduct will be stored and disposed of, and how any marihuana will 
be rendered unusable upon disposal. The sanitation plan shall include 
a copy of the proposed contract between the Applicant and sanitation 
waste provider. Applicant shall submit an odor control plan satisfying 
the criteria in Sec. 15 of this ordinance. The max imum number of 
scoring points in this category shall be twenty (20) points. " 

2 



6. Sec. 13 (f)( 4) at p. 23 is proposed to be amended to incorporate some 
additional application requirements into the existing scoring category 
about significant physical investments and improvements. The added 
language is underscored. 

"( 4) Whether the applicant or its stakeholders have made, or plan to 
make, significant physical investment and improvements to the 
bt,Jilding where the proposed Marihuana Business is to be located, 
including the applicant's financial structure, source of financing, 
development and build-out budget and projected initial operating 
budget of the proposed Marihuana Business and proposed tangible 
capital investment; the current and proposed condition of the 
proposed location; and the applicant's ownership stake in the physical 
location of the establishment. The maximum number of scoring points 
in this category shall be ten (10) points." 

7. Sec. 13 (f)(6) at p. 23 is proposed to be amended to include the proof 
of a commitment to issue an insurance policy satisfying the criteria 
required by the ordinance as part of the scoring criteria on financial 
resources and capitalization. The added language is underscored. 

"(6) Whether the applicant has disclosed and documented sufficient 
financial resources and total amount of capitalization to develop, 
operate and maintain a Retailer, Social Equity Retailer, Class A 
Microbusiness or Designated Consumption Establishment, and 
demonstrates the requisite business experience to execute, the 
submitted business plan and other plans required by this ordinance. 
The applicant should disclose and document sources and total amount 
of capitalization to operate and maintain a Retailer establishment, a 
Social Equity Retailer, Class A Microbusiness and Designated 
Consumption Establishment, and include a CPA attested financial 
statement, a valid pro forma for three years, proof of financial 
responsibility in the form of a commitment or letter of intent to issue 
an insurance policy satisfying the criteria in Sec. 12 (b)(27) of this 
ordinance, attest that the applicant and any of its owners have not 
filed bankruptcy in the last seven (7) years, have not had liens placed 
upon financial accounts or property by the Internal Revenue Service or 
state Treasuries, and has filed personal and/or corporate income tax 
returns for the past five (5) years. The maximum number of scoring 
points in this category shall be twenty (20) points." 

8. Sec. 13 (f)(7) at p. 24 is proposed to be amended to add to the 
staffing plan scoring criteria additional elements that are required as 
part of the application. The added language is underscored. 

3 



"(7) Description of staffing plan that includes the number and type 
of full-time and part-time positions the applicant intends to create; the 
proposed living wage or salary (at least 200 percent of the Federal 
Poverty Level for a family of two, at its hourly basis) for all employees 
pursuant to MCL 125.3501, MCL 125.3502, MCL 125.3504, article VII, 
§ 34 Construction of constitution and law concerning counties, 
townships, cities, villages and article VII, § 22 Charters, resolutions, 
ordinances; enumeration of powers of the Michigan Constitution, the 
applicant intends to pay employees, unless otherwise prohibited by 
state law; whether the applicant has articulated plans and strategies to 
recruit, hire and mentor for career advancement, a percentage of 
diverse residents from the City of Pontiac, including those residents 
who are veterans, low income and/or have a prior controlled substance 
record ( excluding distribution of a controlled substance to a minor); g 
staff training and education plan that the applicant will provide to 
employees; an explanation, with supporting factual data, of the 
economic benefits to the City and the job creation for local residents to 
be achieved by the establishment; short and long-term goals and 
objectives; and whether the applicant has articulated plans to provide 
employee health and welfare benefit plans, including, but not limited 
to, sick leave, maternity leave, and paternity leave. The applicant shall 
maintain and provide data to the City Clerk supporting its staffing plan 
which shall be considered at the time of renewal of any permit issued 
pursuant to this ordinance to determine compliance. The maximum 
number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points." 

9. Sec. 13 (f)(10) at p. 25 is proposed to add back "or more" which was 
inadvertently deleted when adding in the amendments approved last 
week. The added language is underscored. 

"(10) Whether the applicant has rehabilitated and/or redeveloped 
within three (3) years before the submittal of the application under 
this ordinance, or will rehabilitate and/or redevelop, an existing 
building by demolishing and rebuilding or completely renovating a 
building that has been vacant or had been vacant as registered with 
the City for one (1) year or more. The maximum number of scoring 
points in this category shall be ten (10) points." 

10. Sec. 14 (a) at p. 29 on Social Equity Retailers is proposed to be 
amended to change the number of permits from five to six so that it 
conforms with the number allowed. The amended language is 
underscored. 

4 



"(a)The City has created a permit process to allow state social equity 
qualifiers to apply for and be awarded social equity retailer permits in 
zoning districts designated in the City zoning ordinance. The City 
shall permit six (6) social equity retailer licenses for social equity 
applicants, including franchisees, who demonstrate and document 
51 % or more ownership by social equity qualifying applicants, 
including ownership structure of the entity that identifies the 
ownership percentage held by each stakeholder." 

11. Sec. 16 (a) at p. 30 is proposed to be amended to replace "Any 
person or any $10,000 in contract value or benefit from the City" with 
a "permittee." The amended language is underscored. 

@l "A permitee must use good-faith efforts in hiring employees who 
have been· negatively impacted by marihuana prohibition. Adult-use . 
recreational marihuana businesses should use good-faith efforts to 
hire and retain 25 percent of its employees who are low income or 
live in the City of Pontiac." 

12. Sec. 17 (e) on p. 31 is proposed to be amended to eliminate the 
sentence that prohibited a Class A Microbusiness from operating on the 
same parcel as another type of Marihuana Business. "A Class A 
Microbusiness shall not operate on the same parcel as any other 
Marihuana Business" was deleted. The proposed amended section 
after the deletion reads as follows: 

"( e) Class A Microbusinesses are prohibited if the location is within 
1,000 feet from any pre-existing School; (i) The distance separation 
requirement set forth above shall be measured from nearest property 
line of the Business Location to the nearest property line of the parcel 
on which the listed use is located, regardless of ownership of property 
or Permittee." 

5 



#6 
RESOLUTION 



CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Department of Public Works 

TO: Pontiac City Council 

FROM: Al Cooley Ill, Interim Director of DPW 

CC: Mayor Tim Greimel and Deputy Mayor Khalfani Stephens 

DATE: January 25, 2023 

RE: MOOT Annual Permit Performance Resolution 

Every year, the Department of Public Works (DPW) applies for an annual permit from the 
Michigan Department of Transportation (MOOT) to perform routine and emergency 
maintenance on City owned utilities such as street lighting in MOOT right of way in the City. 

The attached Performance Resolution is required by MOOT as a condition for issuing this 
permit as well as any other permit to any municipality. This year, the Performance 
Resolution text has been revised by MOOT and therefore they are requiring a new approval 
from the City Council. 

DPW has reviewed the attached Performance Resolution and recommends that City 
Council vote to approve it. 



Michigan Department 
of Transportation 

2207B (05/21) PERFORMANCE RESOLUTION FOR 
MUNICIPALITIES 

Page 1 of 2 

This Performance Resolution (Resolution)is required by the Michigan Department of Transportation for 
purposes of issuing to a Municipality an "Individual Permit for Use of State Highway Right of Way", and/or 
an "Annual Application and Permit for Miscellaneous Operations within State Highway Right of Way". 

RESOLVED WHEREAS, the ____________ C_it.:...y_of_P_o_n_tia_c __________ _ 
(County, City, Village, Township, etc.) 

hereinafter referred to as the "MUNICIPALITY," periodically applies to the Michigan Department of 
Transportation, hereinafter referred to as the "DEPARTMENT," for permits, referred to as "PERMIT," to 
construct, operate, use and/or maintain utilities or other facilities, or to conduct other activities, on, over, and 
under State Highway Right of Way at various locations within and adjacent to its corporate limits; 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the DEPARTMENT granting such PERMIT, the MUNICIPALITY 
agrees that: 

1. Each party to this Resolution shall remain responsible for any claims arising out of their own acts and/or 
omissions during the performance of this Resolution, as provided by law. This Resolution is not 
intended to increase either party's liability for, or immunity from, tort claims, nor shall it be interpreted, 
as giving either party hereto a right of indemnification, either by Agreement or at law, for claims arising 
out of the performance of this Agreement. 

2. If any of the work performed for the MUNICIPALITY is performed by a contractor, the MUNICIPALITY shall 
require its contractor to hold harmless, indemnify and defend in litigation, the State of Michigan, the 
DEPARTMENT and their agents and employee's, against any claims for damages to public or private 
property and for injuries to person arising out of the performance of the work, except for claims that result 
from the sole negligence or willful acts of the DEPARTMENT, until the contractor achieves final acceptance 
of the. MUNlCIPALITY Failure of the MUNICIPALITY to require its contractor to indemnify the 
DEPARTMENT, as set forth above, shall be considered a breach of its duties to the DEPARTMENT. 

3. Any work performed for the MUNICIPALITY by a contractor or subcontractor will be solely as a contractor 
for the MUNICIPALITY and not as a contractor or agent of the DEPARTMENT. The DEPARTMENT shall 
not be subject to any obligations or liabilities by vendors and contractors of the MUNICIPALITY, or their 
subcontractors or any other person not a party to the PERMIT without the DEPARTMENT'S specific prior 
written consent and notwithstanding the issuance of the PERMIT. Any claims by any contractor or 
subcontractor will be the sole responsibility of the MUNICIPALITY. 

4. The MUNICIPALITY shall take no unlawful action or conduct, which arises either directly or indirectly out 
of its obligations, responsibilities, and duties under the PERMIT which results in claims being asserted 
against or judgment being imposed against the State of Michigan, the Michigan Transportation Commission, 
the DEPARTMENT, and all officers, agents and employees thereof and those contracting governmental 
bodies performing permit activities for the DEPARTMENT and all officers, agents, and employees 
thereof, pursuant to a maintenance contract. In the event that the same occurs, for the purposes of the 
PERMIT, it will be considered as a breach of the PERMIT thereby giving the State of Michigan, the 
DEPARTMENT, and/or the Michigan Transportation Commission a right to seek and obtain any necessary 
relief or remedy, including, but not by way of limitation, a judgment for money damages. 

5. The MUNICIPALITY will, by its own volition and/or request by the DEPARTMENT, promptly restore and/or 
correct physical or operating damages to any State Highway Right of Way resulting from the 
installation construction, operation and/or maintenance of the MUNICIPALITY'S facilities according to a 
PERMIT issued by the DEPARTMENT. 



MOOT 2207B (05/21) 
Page 2 of 2 

6. With respect to any activities authorized by a PERMIT, when the MUNICIPALITY requires insurance on 
its own or its contractor's behalf it shall also require that such policy include as named insured the State 
of Michigan, the Transportation Commission, the DEPARTMENT, and all officers, agents, and employees 
thereof and those governmental bodies performing permit activities for the DEPARTMENT and all 
officers, agents, and employees thereof, pursuant to a maintenance contract. 

7. The incorporation by the DEPARTMENT of this Resolution as part of a PERMIT does not prevent the 
DEPARTMENT from requiring additional performance security or insurance before issuance of a 
PERMIT. 

8. This Resolution shall continue in force from this date until cancelled by the MUNICIPALITY or the 
DEPARTMENT with no less than thirty (30) days prior written notice provided to the other party. It 
will not be cancelled or otherwise terminated by the MUNICIPALITY with regard to any PERMIT which has 
already been issued or activity which has already been undertaken. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the following position(s) are authorized to apply to the DEPARTMENT for 
the necessary permit to work within State Highway Right of Way on behalf of the MUNICIPALITY. 

Title and/or Name: 

Director of Public Works-

Deputy Director of Public Works 

City Engineer 

Deputy City Engineer 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true copy of a resolution adopted by 

the Council ------------------ ------------------
(Name of Board, etc.) 

of the City of Pontiac of Oakland ----------------------- --------------
(Name of MUNICIPALITY} (County) 

at a ___________ C_it ___ y_C_o_un_c_il __________ meeting held on the 31st day 

of ___ ___;:,_;Ja:....;.n;_;,;u-'-ary_.__ ___ A.D. ___ 20_2_3 __ _ 

Signed 

Title 

Print Signed Name 



#7 
RESOLUTION 



CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Department of Public Works 

TO: Pontiac City Council 

FROM: Al Cooley Ill, Interim Director of DPW 

CC: Mayor Tim Greimel and Deputy Mayor Khalfani Stephens 

DATE: January 25, 2023 

RE: Correction - Clarification to Legal Description for Alley Vacation 

On January 17, 1989, the City Council by Resolution No. 36-89, vacated an alley identified as 
Alley No. 2 in Lakeside Park Subdivision as recorded in Liber 22, Page 14, of Oakland County 
Records and abutting Merrimac Subdivision as recorded in Liber 22, Page 26 of Oakland County 
Records. This Resolution No. 36-89, requires clarification to properly identify the limits of the 
vacation. 

WHEREAS, 

WHEREAS, 

NOW, THEREFORE 

The City of Pontiac City Council vacated the said alley via Resolution No. 
36-89 on January 17, 1989; and; 

The legal description attached to Resolution No. 36-89 was not completely 
clear as to the limits of the intended alley vacation; 

IT IS RESOLVED: That the Legal Description of the above described Alley No. 2 vacation is 
hereby corrected to read as follows: 

Alley No. 2 - Said Alley abutting Lots 30 through 48 of Merrimac Subdivision, and Lots 115 
through 130 

and Lots 131 through Lot 134 of Lakeside Park Subdivision. 

Be It Further Resolved, that the City of Pontiac, pmsuant to the provisions of State Law (Act 288, 
Public Acts of 1967, Section 257), for the use and benefit of the City of Pontiac, and any lawfully 
franchised utility company doing business in the City having the right to use public rights-of-way, 
their successors, licensees, or assigns and their agents and employees, does hereby reserve an 
easement for public utility purposes for the benefit of the City of Pontiac, and any lawfully 
franchised utility company doing business in the City having the right to use public rights-of-way, 
giving them the right to constrnct and maintain, and to repair, remove, replace, improve, and 
enlarge sewers, drains, or water or gas mains, cables, wires, conduits, poles and towers, and other 
supports and all the necessary apput1enances thereto, including braces, guys, anchors, manholes 
and transformers, and to enter upon said property at any time for the purpose of constructing, 
maintaining, repairing, removing, replacing, improving, enlarging, or inspecting same, and to trim 



or remove any trees or roots that may at any time interfere with or threaten to interfere with said 
public utility installation. Said reserved easement shall cover all of the above vacated alley. 

Be It Further Resolved, that no building or structure shall be placed over and upon said easement 
without the express consent of the City of Pontiac, and any lawfully franchised utility company 
doing business in the City having the right to use public rights-of-way, or their successors, licenses, 
or assigns in writing from the Department of Public Works of the City after submission of complete 
plans for the proposed construction, and the issuance of a building permit for any such building or 
structure shall not constitute such consent. The non-use or limited use of this easement right by 
the holders thereof shall not prevent later use thereof to the full extent provided herein. 

Be It Further Resolved, that a copy of this resolution be recorded with the Register of Deeds for 
Oakland County. 



#28 

COMMUNICATION 



PARKS & RECREATION PRESENTS 

·ON· 

FEB I 1 l 12023 

5PM -- 7PM 

• IJ,;,. 

• • ·1·Lafayette St, Pontiac,_Ml'48342 • • 
' 

Tickets .are, $30 a couple for R.esidents 
$4-CJ ;a .couple for,·Non-Residents 

For more information contact (248) 758-3039 




